
  

 
Meeting of the  

 

DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

________________________________________________ 
 

Wednesday, 8 October 2008 at 7.30 p.m. 
______________________________________ 

 

A G E N D A 
__________________________________________ 

 

VENUE 
Council Chamber, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 

Crescent, London, E14 2BG 
 
Members: 
 

Deputies (if any): 
Chair: Councillor Shafiqul Haque  
Vice-Chair:Councillor Denise Jones   
  
  
Councillor Lutfa Begum 
Councillor Fazlul Haque 
Councillor Alexander Heslop 
Councillor Harun Miah 
Councillor Tim O'Flaherty 
Councillor Ahmed Adam Omer 
Vacancy 
 

Councillor Helal Abbas, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Shafiqul 
Haque, Fazlul Haque, Alex Heslop, 
Denise Jones and Ahmed Omer) 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Tim 
O'Flaherty) 
Councillor Waiseul Islam, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Shafiqul 
Haque, Fazlul Haque, Alex Heslop, 
Denise Jones and Ahmed Omer) 
Councillor Azizur Rahman Khan, 
(Designated Deputy representing 
Councillor Tim O'Flaherty) 
Councillor Rania Khan, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Rania 
Khan) 
Councillor Abdul Matin, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Tim 
O'Flaherty) 
Councillor Abjol Miah, (Designated Deputy 
representing Councillor Harun Miah) 



 
 
 
 

Councillor Abdul Munim, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Harun 
Miah) 
Councillor Oliur Rahman, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Lutfa 
Begum) 
Councillor Salim Ullah, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillors Shafiqul 
Haque, Fazlul Haque, Alex Heslop, 
Denise Jones and Ahmed Omer) 
 

[Note: The quorum for this body is 3 Members]. 
 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: Alan Ingram, Democratic Services,  
Tel: 020 7364 0842,  E-mail:alan.ingram@towerhamlets.gov.uk 



 
 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE  
 

Wednesday, 8 October 2008 
 

7.30 p.m. 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting 

Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Chief Executive. 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 

  

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the ordinary meeting of 
Development Committee held on 27th August 2008. 
 

3 - 12  

4. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

  

 To RESOLVE that: 
 

1) in the event of changes being made to 
recommendations by the Committee, the task of 
formalising the wording of those changes is 
delegated to the Corporate Director 
Development and Renewal along the broad lines 
indicated at the meeting; and 

 
2) in the event of any changes being needed to the 

wording of the Committee’s decision (such as to 
delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or 
reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the 
decision being issued, the Corporate Director 
Development and Renewal is delegated 
authority to do so, provided always that the 
Corporate Director does not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
 

  



 
 
 
 

5. PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS  
 

  

 To note the procedure for hearing objections at meetings 
of the Development Committee. 
 

13 - 14  

6. DEFERRED ITEMS  
 

15 - 16  

7. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION  
 

  

7 .1 Gun Wharf, 241 Old Ford Road, London, E3   
 

17 - 54 Bow West 
7 .2 1-131 Carmine Wharf, 30 Copenhagen Place, London   
 

55 - 62 Limehouse 
 
 



1 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\6\7\AI00016764\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
This note is guidance only.  Members should consult the Council’s Code of Conduct for further 
details.  Note: Only Members can decide if they have an interest therefore they must make their 
own decision.  If in doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to 
attending at a meeting.   
 
Declaration of interests for Members 
 
Where Members have a personal interest in any business of the authority as described in 
paragraph 4 of the Council’s Code of Conduct (contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) 
then s/he must disclose this personal interest as in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Code.  
Members must disclose the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting and 
certainly no later than the commencement of the item or where the interest becomes apparent.   
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 
 

(a) An interest that you must register 
 
(b) An interest that is not on the register, but where the well-being or financial position of you, 

members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association, is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision. 

 
Where a personal interest is declared a Member may stay and take part in the debate and 
decision on that item.   
 
What constitutes a prejudicial interest? - Please refer to paragraph 6 of the adopted Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if (a), (b) and either (c) 
or (d) below apply:- 
 

(a) A member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think that your 
personal interests are so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interests; AND 

(b) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decision listed in 
paragraph 6.2 of the Code; AND EITHER   

(c) The matter affects your financial position or the financial interest of a body with which 
you are associated; or 

(d) The matter relates to the determination of a licensing or regulatory application 
 

The key points to remember if you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a 
meeting:- 
 

i. You must declare that you have a prejudicial interest, and the nature of that interest, as 
soon as that interest becomes apparent to you; and  
 

ii. You must leave the room for the duration of consideration and decision on the item and 
not seek to influence the debate or decision unless (iv) below applies; and  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



2 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\6\7\AI00016764\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

 
iii. You must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial 

interest.   
 

iv. If Members of the public are allowed to speak or make representations at the meeting, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise (e.g. 
planning or licensing committees), you can declare your prejudicial interest but make 
representations.  However, you must immediately leave the room once you have 
finished your representations and answered questions (if any).  You cannot remain in 
the meeting or in the public gallery during the debate or decision on the matter. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 7.30 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 27 AUGUST 2008 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Shafiqul Haque (Chair) 
 
Councillor Fazlul Haque 
Councillor Tim O'Flaherty 
Councillor Ahmed Adam Omer 
 
Officers Present: 
 
Megan Crowe – (Legal Services Team Leader, Planning) 
Stephen Irvine – (Development Control Manager, Planning) 
Terry Natt – Strategic Applications Manager 
Jen Pepper – (Affordable Housing Programme Manager) 
Alison Thomas – (Private Sector and Affordable Housing Manager, 

Housing Development, Development & Renewal) 
Les Salmon – (Democratic Services) 

 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Denise Jones and 
Alexander Heslop. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Fazlul Haque declared personal interests in items 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3 
as a ward member for Weavers Ward. 
 
Councillor Timothy O’Flaherty declared a personal interest in item 7.1 as a 
ward member for Weavers Ward. 
 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30th July 2008 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The Committee RESOLVED that: 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

2 

1) in the event of amendments to recommendations being made by 
the Committee, the task of formalising the wording of any 
amendments be delegated to the Corporate Director Development 
and Renewal along the broad lines indicated at the meeting; and 

 
2) in the event of any minor changes being needed to the wording of 

the Committee’s decision (such as to vary or add conditions or 
reasons for refusal) prior to the decision being issued, authority is 
delegated to the Corporate Director, Development and Renewal to 
do so, provided always that the Corporate Director must not exceed 
the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
5. PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS  

 
The Committee noted the procedure and those who had registered to speak. 
 
 

6. DEFERRED ITEMS  
 
 

6.1 151-157 Gosset Street, London, E2 6NR  
 
Mr.Stephen Irvine presented the addendum report and briefly reminded 
Members of the Committee that the application was considered by the 
Development Committee at its meeting on the 30th July 2008 and had been 
rejected for approval in contradiction of officers’ advice. 
 
The Development Committee at that time indicated that they had been 
minded not to support the officers’ recommendation to grant planning 
permission for proposed development on the following grounds: 
 

1) The percentage of family-sized homes included in the market 
element of the proposed development was insufficient; and 
 

2) The proposed building would give rise to adverse over-shadowing 
implications for the neighbouring residential properties. 

 
Raised informally was the concern of separation distance between the 
northern elevation of the development and the adjacent dwellings on 
Wellington Row. 
 
Mr.Stephen Irvine continued to explain in greater detail the Council’s relevant 
policies and considerations in respect of concerns raised by Committee 
Members on the 30th July 2008 and expanded upon in the addendum report, 
but concluded that officers’ recommendations remained unchanged and were 
of the opinion that no material harm arose from the proposals and would not 
propose any other grounds of refusal. 
 
Furthermore, given the general merits of the development, none of the 
proposed reasons for refusal were considered by officers as likely to be 
upheld on appeal. 

Page 4



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

3 

 
Ms.Megan Crowe concurred with this assessment of the situation. 
 
Members of the Committee asked a number of questions about possible 
infringements to the conservation area and the impact upon lifestyles in the 
area. 
 
By way of response, Mr.Irvine said the previous refusal had not been 
prompted by concern for the impact upon the conservation area, but was 
happy to reply. 
 
It was explained the conservation area comprised predominantly two storey 
Victorian houses set back from the road. 
 
The development was for eleven storeys, reducing in height as it approached 
the conservation area. 
 
He was confident the set back proposed by officers was appropriate, would 
not affect the conservation area and was in accord with Council policy 
guidelines. 
 
 
On a vote of 2 for, 1 against and 1 abstention, the Committee RESOLVED 
that planning permission for the demolition of existing buildings and 
construction of 51 residential units within buildings rising from 2 to 6 storeys, 
together with associated cycle parking and accessible landscaped roof garden 
at 151-157 Gosset Street, London E2 6NR be GRANTED subject to: 
 
A. Any direction by The Mayor 
  
B. The prior completion of a legal agreement, to the satisfaction of the Chief Legal 

Officer, to secure the following: 
  
1. Affordable housing provision of 35% of the proposed habitable rooms with an 

80/20 split between rented/ shared ownership to be provided on site 
  
2. A contribution of £51,000 to mitigate the demand of the additional population on 

health care facilities. 
  
3. A contribution of £98,736 to mitigate the demand of the additional population on 

education facilities. 
  
4. Provide £50,000 towards open space improvements at Warner Green to relieve 

the pressure that may arise from the new dwellings. 
  
5. A total contribution of £61,619 towards upgrading part of Durant Street adjacent 

to the development site, including: 
 

• the relocation of bollards and construction of shared surface on the south of 
Durant Street to permit vehicular turning; 

• the repaving/upgrade of the pavement on the east side of Durant Street; and 

Page 5



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

4 

• carriageway resurfacing and public realm improvement on Durant Street. 
  
6. Completion of a car free agreement to restrict occupants applying for residential 

parking permits, apart from disabled users. 
  
7. TV reception monitoring and mitigation; 
  
8. Commitment towards utilising employment initiatives in order to maximise the 

employment of local residents. 
  
That the Head of Development Decisions is delegated power to impose conditions on 
the planning permission to secure the following: 
  
Conditions 
  
1. Permission valid for 3 years 
2. Details of the following are required: 

• Samples of materials for external fascia of building; 
• A 1:20 scale north elevation that includes all specifications, fencing, rainwater 

pipes, external details (including samples);  
• 1:10 typical details for windows, balcony, and elevation bay where interface 

between timber panels and brickwork is visible (including samples); 
• 1:5 details for roof railing, top storey metal cladding detail (including 

samples); and 
• Detailed landscape plan for roof-top amenity space (including samples). 

3. Landscape Maintenance and Management Plan. Native species should be 
implemented 

4. Parking – 0 car parking spaces and a minimum of 66 cycle spaces 
5. Archaeological investigation 
6. Investigation and remediation measures for land contamination (including water 

pollution potential) 
7. Full particulars of the following: 

• Surface/ foul water drainage plans/ works; and  
• Surface water control measures. 

8. Details of the site foundations works 
9. Construction Environmental Management Plan, including an Air Quality 

measures 
10. Sustainable design measures and construction materials, including of energy 

efficiency and renewable measures. 
11. Limit hours of construction to between 8.00 Hours to 18.00 Hours, Monday to 

Friday and 8.00 Hours to 13.00 Hours on Saturdays. No work on Sundays or 
public holidays. 

12. Limit hours of power/hammer driven piling/breaking out to between 10.00 Hours 
to 16.00 Hours, Monday to Friday. 

13. All residential accommodation to be built to Lifetime Homes standard, including 
at least 10% of all housing being wheelchair accessible. 

14. Preparation of a Travel Plan 
15. Details of Refuse Management Plan 
16. Highway works surrounding the site to be submitted to and approved by the 

Council. 
17. Any other condition(s) considered necessary by the Head of Development 

Page 6



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

5 

Decisions 
  
 Informatives 
  
1. Section 106 agreement required. 
2. Section 278 (Highways) agreement required. 
3. Site notice specifying the details of the contractor required. 
4. Construction Environmental Management Plan Advice. 
6. Environment Agency Advice. 
7. Environmental Health Department Advice. 
8. Metropolitan Police Advice. 
9. Thames Water Advice. 
10. Highways Department Advice. 
11. Advertising signs and/or hoardings consent. 
  
That, if by 27th November 2008 the legal agreement has not been completed to the 
satisfaction of the Chief Legal Officer, the Head of Development Decisions is 
delegated power to refuse planning permission. 
The Chair adjourned the meeting at 7.55pm to allow for quiet to be restored in 
the chamber. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 8.05pm. 
 
 

7. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION  
 
 

7.1 94 Fairfield Road, London, E3 2QP  
 
Mr.Terry Natt introduced the report, which he described as having three 
elements: 
 

1) The demolition of all existing structures on site with exemption of 
Pelican Cottage; and 
 

2) The erection of 86 mixed new build dwellings; and 
 

3) Alterations and refurbishment of Pelican Cottage. 
 
In conclusion, it was noted that the design had been worked upon for the last 
two years. 
 
Members of the Committee asked questions about the location of the site, 
raised concerns in respect of no provision for pedestrian crossing, the 
implications for the safety of children using the road and the accessing of the 
development from one side to the other. Concerns were also raised about 
consultations on the development and air quality. 
 
In response, Mr.Natt explained that the Highways Department had been 
consulted about where the movement of people was likely to take place and 
had registered no concerns. Consultations on the development had taken 

Page 7



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

6 

place on a fairly typical standard consultation exercise. All parties within a one 
hundred metre radius had been approached for their views. 
 
Finally, air quality was one of the conditions imposed as a condition of 
approval to ensure all statutory obligations met. 
 
 
On a unanimous vote the Committee RESOLVED that (1) planning 
permission for the demolition of existing structures and the erection of 86 new 
dwellings, including affordable housing in a building extending between 2 and 
9 storeys in height be GRANTED subject to: 
 
A The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 

obligations: 
 

• A contribution of £132,762 to mitigate the demand of the additional 
population on education facilities; 

 
• A contribution of £119,603 to mitigate the demand of the additional 

population on health care facilities; 
 
• Affordable Housing provision at 35% of habitable rooms with a 75/25 split 

between affordable rented/shared ownership to be provided on site; 
 

• A contribution of £54,044 to mitigate the demand of the additional 
population on open space facilities;   

 
• Completion of a 'Car Free' agreement to restrict occupants applying for 

residential parking permits; 
 

• The submission and approval of a Travel Plan, to promote sustainable 
means of transport; 

 
• Commitment towards utilising employment initiatives in order to maximise 

the employment of local residents in and post construction phase; 
 

• The provision and maintenance of a Car Club space within the 
development; 

 
• Developer to adhere to the code of construction practise. 

 
 

B. That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal has delegated power to 
negotiate the legal agreement indicated above. 
 
C. That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal has delegated power to 
impose conditions and informatives on the planning permission to secure the 
following matters: 
 
Conditions: 

Page 8



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

7 

 
1) Time limit for Full Planning Permission  
2) Submission of material samples 
3)Details of lighting within the site 
4) Detailed Landscape plan 
5) Hours of construction limits 
6) Piling hours of operation limits  
7) Renewables 
8) Contaminated Land 
9) Archaeological programme 
10) Refuse and recycling 
11) Construction management plan 
12) Lifetime homes and 10% wheelchair accessible 
13) Electric car charging point 
14) Code for sustainable homes 
15) Details of insulation of the ventilation system and any associated plant required 
16) Air quality management 
17) Secure by Design 
18) Highway works 
19) Any other condition(s) considered necessary by the Head of Development 
Decisions 
 
Informatives 
 
1) Subject to S106 agreement 
2) Contact Highways Department 
3) 278 works surrounding the site 
4) Wheel-washing facilities 
5) Section 72 works 
6) To be read in conjunction with PA/08/1090 and PA/08/1089 
 
That, if by 29 August 2008 the legal agreement has not been completed to the 
satisfaction of the Chief Legal Officer, the Head of Development Decisions is 
delegated power to refuse planning permission. 
 
 
(2) That the Committee resolved that Conservation Area Consent be GRANTED 
subject to: 
 
Conditions: 
 
1) Time Limit 
2) Works in accordance with approved plans 
3) Hours of demolition 
 
Informative: 
 
1) To be read in conjunction with PA/08/1088 and PA/08/1089 
 
 
(3) That the Committee resolved that Listed Building Consent BE GRANTED subject 

Page 9



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

8 

to: 
 
Conditions: 
 
1) Time Limit 
2)  Submission of detailed drawings 
3) Submission of samples 
 
Informative: 
 
1) To be read in conjunction with PA/08/1090 and PA/08/1088 
 
 

7.2 Jubilee Place, Heron Quay, London, E14 4JB  
 
Mr.Stephen Irvine briefly introduced the application and invited Ms.Rachel 
McConnell to present the report. 
 
Ms.McConnell informed the Committee that the proposal was for the change 
of use of existing floor space to provide Class A floor space, storage and mall 
circulation. 
 
There were no questions or observations on the application. 
 
On a unanimous vote the Committee RESOLVED that planning permission for 
the change of use of existing floor space and removal of existing car park to 
form Class A floor space with ancillary service area, storage and mall 
circulation area be GRANTED subject to: 
 
 A. The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 

obligations: 
  
  a) Access to Employment Initiatives 

b) Local labour in Construction 
c)  Any other planning obligation(s) considered necessary by the Corporate 

Director  Development & Renewal 
  
 That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated authority to 

negotiate the legal agreement indicated above. 
  
 That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated authority to issue 

the planning permission and impose conditions and informative(s) to secure the 
following matters: 
 

 Conditions 
 
 1. Standard time limit  

2. Construction method statement 
3. Service Management Plan 
4. Energy condition 
5. Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Corporate 

Page 10



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

9 

Director Development & Renewal 
 
 
 

Informatives 
1. Environment Agency Informative 
2. Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Corporate 

Director Development & Renewal 
 
3.2 That, if within 3-months of the date of this committee decision the legal agreement 

has not been completed, the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is 
delegated authority to refuse planning permission. 

 
 

7.3 West India Dock Pier, Cuba Street, London, E14  
 
Mr.Stephen Irvine briefly introduced the application and invited Mr.Terry Natt 
to present the report. 
 
Mr.Natt informed the Committee that the proposal was for a change of use of 
disused passenger pier to a residential mooring. 
 
Dr.Amjad Rahi spoke in objection to the proposal, he asked the Committee to 
reflect that the granting of planning permission was more than an adherence 
to planning policies and rules, but the preservation of sustainable 
communities. The pier had been designated for passenger use since 1940. 
There was a suspicion that previous applications in 2003 and 2005 had been 
a front for undisclosed activities. There had been 400 objections to the 
proposed scheme in 2005, which happily had not progressed. 
 
In conclusion, Dr.Rahi said he believed there were some factual inaccuracies 
in the report and appealed to the Committee to reject the application. 
 
Councillor Ahmed Hussain spoke in objection, on behalf of Councillor Shirley 
Houghton (unable to be present due to holiday commitments) and expressed 
concern that at the expiration of the time limit of 1 year, the Applicant had to 
return to this Committee and not Licensing Sub-Committee. Further concern 
expressed that unlike the application made in 2005 for a commercial licence, 
no commercial licenses should be granted. The view was also expressed that 
any moorings should be conditional upon permission being granted for 
smaller craft. 
 
Members of the Committee asked questions about the imposition of 
restrictions on the type of craft and whether they could be used for sleeping or 
sub-letting. Questions also posed about possible use as temporary prisoner 
accommodation or half way house provision. 
 
Mr.Irvine assured Members that the Council had powers to control the use of 
accommodation, but not who occupies. Other aspects of concern by Members 
were covered by relevant legislation and would require planning permission to 
be sought. 
 

Page 11



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 27/08/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

10 

On a unanimous vote the Committee RESOLVED that temporary planning 
permission for the change of use from disused passenger pier to a residential 
mooring be GRANTED subject to: 
 
That the Corporate Director, Development and Renewal has delegated power 
to impose conditions and informatives on the planning permission to secure 
the following matters: 

 
Conditions 

 
 1. Limit time period for 1 year 
 2. Only one vessel to be moored at the site at any one time 
 3. The vessel shall not be used for temporary sleeping    

 accommodation or for holiday lets 
 4. No discharge of sewage into the river 
 5. Limit works to the vessel at the application site to minor   

 maintenance only 
 6. Grampian condition to prevent residents from applying from   

 parking permits 
 7. Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Corporate  

 Director, Development & Renewal 
 
 
 Informatives 
 
 1. Works to pier may require planning permission 
 2. River works license required from PLA 
 3. Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Corporate  

 Director, Development & Renewal 
 
 
The meeting ended at 8.35pm. 
 
 
 

Councillor Shafiqul Haque 
Chair 

Development Committee 
 

 
 

Page 12



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

PROCEDURES FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS AT COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
Provisions in the Council’s Constitution (Part 4.8) relating to public speaking: 
6.1 Where a planning application is reported on the "Planning Applications for Decision" part of 

the agenda, individuals and organisations which have expressed views on the application will 
be notified by letter that the application will be considered by Committee at least three clear 
days prior to the meeting. The letter will explain these provisions regarding public speaking. 

6.2 When a planning application is reported to Committee for determination the provision for the 
applicant/supporters of the application and objectors to address the Committee on any 
planning issues raised by the application, will be in accordance with the public speaking 
procedure adopted by the relevant committee from time to time (see below). 

6.3 All requests to address a committee must be made in writing or by email to the committee 
clerk by 4pm on the Friday prior to the day of the meeting. This communication must provide 
the name and contact details of the intended speaker. Requests to address a committee will 
not be accepted prior to the publication of the agenda. 

6.4 After 4pm on the Friday prior to the day of the meeting the Committee clerk will advise the 
applicant of the number of objectors wishing to speak. 

6.5 The order of public speaking shall be as stated in Rule 5.3, which is as follows: 
• An objector who has registered to speak 
• The applicant/agent or supporter 
• Non-committee member(s) may address the Committee for up to 3 minutes 

6.6 Public speaking shall comprise verbal presentation only. The distribution of additional 
material or information to members of the Committee is not permitted. 

6.7 Following the completion of a speaker's address to the committee, that speaker shall take no 
further part in the proceedings of the meeting unless directed by the Chair of the Committee. 

6.8 Following the completion of all the speakers' addresses to the Committee, at the discretion of 
and through the chair, committee members may ask questions of a speaker on points of 
clarification only. 

6.9 In the interests of natural justice or in exceptional circumstances, at the discretion of the 
chair, the procedures in Rule 5.3 and in this Rule may be varied. The reasons for any such 
variation shall be recorded in the minutes. 

6.10 Speakers and other members of the public may leave the meeting after the item in which they 
are interested has been determined. 

Public speaking procedure adopted by this Committee: 
• For each planning application up to two objectors can address the Committee for up to three 

minutes each. The applicant or his/her supporter can address the Committee for an 
equivalent time to that allocated for objectors (ie 3 or 6 minutes). 

• For objectors, the allocation of slots will be on a first come, first served basis. 
• For the applicant, the clerk will advise after 4pm on the Friday prior to the meeting whether 

his/her slot is 3 or 6 minutes long. This slot can be used for supporters or other persons that 
the applicant wishes to present the application to the Committee. 

• Where a planning application has been recommended for approval by officers and the 
applicant or his/her supporter has requested to speak but there are no objectors or non-
committee members registered to speak, the chair will ask the Committee if any member 
wishes to speak against the recommendation. If no member indicates that they wish to speak 
against the recommendation, then the applicant or their supporter(s) will not be expected to 
address the Committee. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (Section 97) 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THIS REPORT 

 
Brief Description of background papers: Tick if copy supplied for register Name and telephone no. of holder: 
Application, plans, adopted UDP. draft 
LDF and London Plan 

� Eileen McGrath (020) 7364 5321 

 
 

Committee:  
Development 
 

Date:  
8th October 2008  

Classification:  
Unrestricted 

Agenda Item No: 
6 

Report of:  
Corporate Director of Development and Renewal 
 
Originating Officer:  
Michael Kiely 
 

Title: Deferred items 
 
Ref No: See reports attached for each item 
 
Ward(s): See reports attached for each item 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report is submitted to advise the Committee of planning applications that have been 

considered at previous meetings and currently stand deferred. 
1.2 There are currently no items that have been deferred. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
2.1 That the Committee note the position relating to deferred items. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (Section 97) 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THIS REPORT 
 

Brief Description of background papers: 
 

Tick if copy supplied for register Name and telephone no. of holder: 
Application, plans, adopted UDP. draft 
LDF and London Plan 

 Eileen McGrath 
020 7364 5321 

 

 
Committee:  
Development 
 

Date:  
8th October 2008 
 

Classification:  
Unrestricted 
 

Agenda Item No: 
 
 

Report of:  
Corporate Director of Development and Renewal 
 
Case Officer:  Richard Murrell  
 

Title: Planning Application for Decision 
 
Ref No: PA/08/1000 and PA/08/1001 
 
Ward(s): Bow West 
 

 
1. APPLICATION DETAILS 
  
 Location: Gun Wharf, 241 Old Ford Road, London E3 
 Existing Use: Light Industrial (Use Class B1) 
 Proposal: PA/08/1000 (Planning Permission) 

Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide four 
buildings of between three and six storeys in height  providing 139 
residential units and 252 sq m commercial floorspace (Use Classes 
A1,A3, B1 and D1).  Provision of car and cycle parking, public space 
and landscaped amenity space. 
 
PA/08/1001 (Conservation Area Consent) 
Demolition of existing buildings 
 
 

 Drawing No’s: L4012/1, L4012/2, PL100 Rev A, PL/101 Rev B, PL/102 Rev B, 
PL/103 Rev A, PL/104 Rev B, PL105 Rev B, PL106 Rev B, PL107 
Rev B, PL108 Rev B, PL109, PL110 Rev A, PL111 Rev B, PL200 Rev 
A, PL201 Rev A, PL202 Rev A, PL203 Rev A, PL204 Rev B, PL/205 
Rev A, PL206 Rev A, PL207 Rev A, PL208 Rev A, PL209 Rev A, 
PL210 Rev A, PL211 Rev A, PL212 Rev A and PL213.  
 
Supporting documentation 
 
Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement  
Landscape Statement 
Transport Assessment 
Archaeological Assessment 
Air Quality Assessment 
Noise and Vibration Statement 
Sustainable Energy Statement 
Sustainability Statement 
Daylight and Sunlight Assessment 
Ecological Scoping Report 
Phase 1 Desk Based Assessment of Ground Conditions 
Statement of Community Involvement 
Commercial Viability Statement 
Television and Radio Reception Assessment 
Wind and Microclimate Assessment  

Agenda Item 7.1

Page 17



 Applicant: Durkan Estates Limited 
 Owner: Morgan Crucible Company Plc 

Connor Finance Corporation Limited 
EDF Energy 

 Historic Building: None within site  
Site adjacent to Three Colts Bridge – a Grade II Star Listed Structure 
and a Scheduled Ancient Monument 
 
Site adjacent to Victoria Park  - a Grade II Star Historic Park 
 

 Conservation Area: Victoria Park 
 
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
2.1 
 

The local planning authority has considered the particular circumstances of this application 
against the Council’s approved planning policies contained in the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets Unitary Development Plan, Interim Guidance, associated supplementary planning 
guidance, the London Plan and Government Planning Policy Guidance and has found that: 
 

 o The proposal makes efficient use of the site with a high-density mixed use 
redevelopment and as such accords with policy 3A.3 of the London Plan 
(Consolidated with Alterations since 2004) and HSG1 of the Council’s Interim 
Planning Guidance (2007), which seek the maximum intensity of use compatible with 
local context. 

 
o The loss of the employment use on site is acceptable because the site is unsuitable 

for continued industrial use due to its size, location and condition.  The proposal 
therefore accords with policies EMP1 and EMP8 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan 1998 and policies CP9, CP11, CP19 and EE2 of the Council’s 
Interim Planning Guidance (2007): Core Strategy and Development Control, which 
consider appropriate locations for industrial employment uses and proposals for the 
loss of employment land. 

 
o The proposal provides an acceptable amount of affordable housing and mix of units 

overall and as with policies 3A.5 and 3A.9 of the London Plan (Consolidated with 
Alterations since 2004), policy HSG7 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 
and policies CP22, HSG2 and HSG3 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance 
(2007): Core Strategy and Development Control, which seek to ensure that new 
developments offer a range of housing choices. 

 
o The density of the scheme does not result in any of the significant adverse impacts 

typically associated with an overdevelopment and is therefore acceptable in terms of 
policy 3A.3 of the London Plan (Consolidated with Alterations since 2004), policies 
DEV1 and DEV2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and policies CP5, 
HSG1, DEV1 and DEV2 of Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007): Core 
Strategy and Development Control, which seek to ensure development is sensitive to 
the capability of a site and that it does not have an adverse impact on neighbouring 
amenity. 

 
o The impact of the development on the amenity of neighbours in terms of loss of light, 

overshadowing, loss of privacy or increased sense of enclosure is acceptable given 
the compliance with relevant BRE Guidance and the urban context of the 
development and as such accords with policies DEV1 and DEV2 of the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan 1998 and policies DEV1 and DEV2 of Council’s Interim 
Planning Guidance (2007): Core Strategy and Development Control, which seek to 
ensure development does not have an adverse impact on neighbouring amenity. 

 

Page 18



 
o The quantity and quality of housing amenity space, communal space and open space 

is acceptable and accords with PPS3, policies 3A.6, 3D.13 and 4B.1 of the London 
Plan (Consolidated with Alterations since 2004), policies DEV1, DEV12 and HSG16 
of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and policies DEV2, DEV 3, DEV4 
and HSG7 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007): Core Strategy and 
Development Control, which seek to improve amenity and liveability for residents.  

 
o The building height, scale, bulk, design and relationship to the canal are acceptable 

and accord with Planning Policy Guidance 15, policies 4B.1, 2, 3 and 5 of the London 
Plan (Consolidated with Alterations since 2004), policies DEV1, DEV2, DEV46 and 
DEV48 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and policies DEV1, DEV2, 
DEV3, DEV4, CON1 and CON2 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007): 
Core Strategy and Development Control, which seek to ensure buildings are of a high 
quality design, sensitive to the character of the area and context of a site. 

 
o The demolition of the existing structures on-site and the erection of the proposed 

building enhances the appearance and character of the Victoria Park Conservation 
Area, the setting of Grade II* Listed Three Colts Bridge and the setting of nearby 
locally listed buildings by the provision of a high quality building and landscaped 
areas of public realm. The proposal therefore accords with the requirements of saved 
policy DEV28 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998, IPG policies CON2 
and CON3 and advice in PPG15, which seek to ensure high quality development that 
enhances the character of Conservation Areas. 

 
o The safety and security of the scheme is acceptable and in accordance with policy 

DEV1 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and policy DEV4 of the 
Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007): Core Strategy and Development 
Control, which require all developments to consider the safety and security of 
development, without compromising the achievement of good design and inclusive 
environments. 

 
o Transport matters, including parking, access and servicing, are acceptable and 

accord with policy 3C.23 of the London Plan (Consolidated with Alterations since 
2004), policies T16 and T18 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and 
policies DEV18 and DEV19 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007): Core 
Strategy and Development Control, which seek to ensure developments minimise 
parking and promote sustainable transport options. 

 
o  Sustainability matters, including energy, are acceptable and accord with policies 

4A.3 to 4A.7 of the London Plan (Consolidated with Alterations since 2004) and 
policies DEV 5 to DEV9 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007): Core 
Strategy and Development Control, which seek to promote sustainable development 
practices. 

 
o The proposed development will provide appropriate contributions towards the 

provision of affordable housing, health care, education facilities, transport and open 
space in line with Government Circular 05/05, policy DEV4 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan 1998 and policy IMP1 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance 
(2007), which seek to secure contributions toward infrastructure and services 
required to facilitate proposed development 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATION 
  
3.1 That the Committee resolve to GRANT Conservation Area Consent subject to: 
 Conditions 

Page 19



 1. Time Limit 
2.  No demolition until let of contract for rebuild 
3.  No demolition until bat survey 
 

3.2 That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to: 
 
 

 A The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning obligations: 
 

  a) Forty-six units of affordable housing comprising 31 social rent units and 15 
shared ownership units, as specified in the submitted schedule of housing 

 
b) A contribution of £283, 866 to mitigate for the demand of the additional 

population on educational facilities  
 

c) A contribution of £230, 910 to mitigate for the demand of the additional heath 
care facilities 

 
d) A contribution of £225 000 for highway improvement works including the 

provision of a shared surface on Gunmakers Lane. 
 

e) A contribution of £175 000 to mitigate for the additional demand of the 
development on public transport 

 
f) A contribution of £80, 000 towards improvements to public realm (including £75 

000 to mitigate for increased pressure on Victoria Park). 
 

g) A contribution of £20, 000 to British Waterways for improvements to canal 
 

h) A commitment to provide a car-club parking space 
 

i) The completion of a car-free agreement 
 

j) TV reception monitoring 
 

k) Travel Plan 
 

l) A commitment to utilising employment initiatives in order to maximise 
employment of local residents 

 
m) A commitment to secure public access to the canal-side through the central 

courtyard of the development 
 

  
3.2 That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated power to negotiate the 

legal agreement indicated above. 
  
3.3 That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated power to impose 

conditions and informatives on the planning permission to secure the following matters: 
  
 Conditions: 
 Conditions 

1. Time Limit 
2. Contaminated land survey 
3. Samples / pallet board of all external facing materials 
4. Detail of landscaping including Landscape Maintenance and Management Plan 

specifying the use of native species 

Page 20



5. Construction Management Plan 
6. All residential accommodation to completed to lifetimes homes standards plus at least 

10% wheelchair accessible 
7. Implementation of sustainable design and renewable energy measures 
8. Removal of permitted development  rights to erect fences or gates 
9. Provision of 7 wheelchair parking spaces 
10. Hours of construction (08.00 until 17.00 Monday to Friday; 08.00 until 13:00 Saturday. 

No work on Sundays or Bank Holidays) 
11. Hours of operation of commercial units (7.00am until 11.00pm on any day) 
12. Detail of ventilation and extract equipment for commercial units 
13. Detail of Highway Works to be completed through S278 agreement 
14. Detail of glazing including measures to reduce noise transmission 
15. Scheme of lighting and CCTV 
16. Visibility splays for proposed car-park entrance 
17. Detail biomass system including flue 
18. Scheme for surface water drainage 
19. Details of balcony privacy screens and off-set windows 
20. Risk Assessment and Method Statement for works adjacent to water 
21. Survey and schedule of repairs to canal wall including potential mooring points 
22. Detail of living roofs and brown roofs 
23. No construction of solid matter within 10m of Hertford-Union Canal 

 
  
  
 Informatives 
  
 1) Section 106 required 

2) Section 278 required 
3) Thames Water advice regarding petrol / oil interceptors, water pressure 
4) British Waterways advice regarding surface water drainage. 
5) British Waterways advice regarding third party works  

  
3.4 That, if within 2-weeks of the date of this committee the legal agreement has not been 

completed, the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated power to refuse 
planning permission. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS 
  
 Proposal 
  
4.1 The application proposes the redevelopment of Gun Wharf Business Centre - which is 

located on Old Ford Road at the junction with Gunmakers Lane.  This would involve the 
demolition of the existing single-storey industrial units on-site and the erection of four linked 
buildings ranging in height from three to six storeys.  The buildings would be arranged 
around a central courtyard.  A new area of public open space would be created adjacent to 
Gunmakers Lane, forming an entrance to Victoria Park via Three Colts Bridge.    
 

4.2 The buildings would comprise 139 residential units and 252 square metres of commercial 
floorspace (Use Classes A1 - retail, A3 - restaurants and cafes, B1 – business or D1 – non-
residential institutions).   The proposal includes landscaping, public-open space, basement 
car parking and cycle parking.   
 
 

4.3 In detail the application proposes:  
 

• Four blocks arranged around a central courtyard comprising: 
o Block A – A five storey L-shaped residential block located at the north-west 

Page 21



corner of the site adjacent to Empire Wharf and the canal (Max height 36.7m 
AOD) 

   
o Block B - A block running adjacent to Gunmakers Lane ranging from 3 storeys 

adjacent to the canal, to 6 storeys towards Old Ford Road.  This block is 
residential with commercial space on the ground floor. (Max height 39.7m 
AOD) 

 
 
o Block C – An L-shaped residential block 6 storey in height located at the 

junction of Gunmakers lane and Old Ford Road. (Max height 39.7m AOD) 
 
o Block D – A 5 storey residential block fronting Old Ford Road and running 

along the western boundary with Empire Wharf (Max height 36.7m AOD). 
  

• A residential density of 754 habitable rooms per hectare. 
 
• One hundred and thirty nine (139) residential units (comprising 8 x Studios, 36 x 1 

bedroom flats, 48 x 2 bedroom flats, 42 x 3 bedrooms flats and 5 x 5 bedroom 
houses)  

 
• Two hundred and fifty two (252) square metres of commercial floorspace located in 

the ground floor of Block B, with the proposed use falling into Use classes A1, A3, B1 
and D1)  

 
• Forty six (46) designated units of affordable housing, of which 31 units would be for 

social rent and 15 shared ownership. 
  

• Thirty four (34) percent family sized units across all tenures. 
 
• Seven (7) wheelchair adapted units and a further 10 units that are easily adaptable 

for wheelchair use. 
 
• Sixty-five (65) car-parking spaces located at basement level.  Including 6 dedicated 

disabled bays and one-car club space.  One-hundred and forty-eight (140) cycle 
parking spaces at basement level.    

 
• A total of 4421 square metres of amenity space comprising 1493 square metres of 

communal amenity space, 1631 square metres of private amenity space and 1296 
square metres of public open space.  

 
• A communal heating system powered by a biomass boiler  

 
• Allocated space at ground floor level for refuse and recycling facilities 
 

4.4 During the course of the application, following advice from Officers and concerns expressed 
by local residents, the scheme was amended and revised drawings submitted.  The revisions 
included 
 

• Reduction in height of block D fronting Old Ford Road from 6 to 5 storey 
• Reduction in height of block C on landscape spay from 7 to 6 storey 
• Reduction in number of residential units from 148 to 139 
• Reduction in commercial floorspace from 650sqm to 252sqm 
• Amendments to elevations to reduce parapet build-up.  
• Amendments to landscaping.  
 

Page 22



 Site and Surroundings 
  
4.5 Gun Wharf is located at the junction of Old Ford Road and Gunmakers Lane.  The site is 

located on the opposite side of the Hertford Union Canal from Victoria Park.  Gunmakers 
Lane provides access to the park, via Three Colts Bridge, from residential properties to the 
South and the Roman Road District Centre.     
 

4.6 The application site itself covers an area of 0.56 hectares and is roughly rectangular in 
shape.  It is bounded by Old Ford Road to the South, Empire Wharf to the West and 
Gunmakers Lane to the East.  To the North, the rear boundary abuts the Hertford Union 
Canal.  This rear boundary runs to the very edge of the canal for a distance of 27m.  The 
remaining 41m of rear boundary is separated from the edge of the canal by a narrow strip of 
land owned by British Waterways.  The canal towpath runs on the opposite side of the canal 
to the application site.   
 

4.7 The site is accessed from Old Ford Road via a mini roundabout and is currently occupied by 
the Gun Wharf Business Centre.  The Centre comprises 23 individual industrial units, 
providing 2500 square metres of light industrial (Use Class B1) floorspace.  Nine of the units 
are currently vacant.  The units are located in three single-storey brick buildings with the 
remainder of the site hard-standing.  The site has a functional appearance typical to many 
other small industrial estates built around the 1980s. 
  

4.8 To the West of the site is a 4 storey residential development known as Empire Wharf.  The 
development comprises of two separate rectangular blocks orientated East-West.  The first 
of these is located at the front of the site, the second to the rear.  The space in-between is 
used for car-parking.  To the East of the site, across Gunmakers Lane, is a collection of 
residential blocks – Gatehouse, Monteith, Albany Works and Connaught Works.  These vary 
in height with Albany Works the highest at 6 storeys.  These buildings are brick built and 
locally listed.   

  
4.9 On the opposite side of the canal from the application site is Victoria Park.  Victoria Park is 

registered as a Grade II Star Listed Historic Park or Garden.  Three Colts Bridge, designated 
a Grade II Star Listed Structure and a Scheduled Ancient Monument, provides a crossing 
over the canal and into the park from Gunmakers Lane. 
 

4.10 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 2.  The closest stations to the 
site are located at Mile End and Bow Road.  The site is close to bus routes numbers 8, S2 
and 339. 
 

4.11 In the adopted Unitary Development Plan 1998, the site falls within the Victoria Park 
Conservation Area.  The Hertford Union Canal is a designated Site of Nature Conservation 
Importance and a Green Chain.  The front portion of the site is safeguarded for Road 
Widening. 
 

 Planning History 
  
4.12 There are a number of old planning permissions dating from the 1980s and 1990s relating to 

the construction of the existing industrial units on-site. They are not relevant to this planning 
application. 
  

4.13 PA/07/03294 – Request for a Screening Opinion as to whether an Environmental Impact 
Assessment is required in respect of demolition of existing buildings and construction of 
mixed use development consisting of 650 sq m. commercial floorspace and 160 residential 
units up to six storeys plus car parking, landscaped amenity space and public realm 
improvements. 
 
On 23rd January 2008 the Council determined that an Environmental Impact Assessment 

Page 23



was not required because the development is not located in a sensitive area or thought to 
have significant urbanising effects. 
 

 
 
5. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
  
5.1 For details of the status of relevant policies see the front sheet for “Planning Applications for 

Determination” agenda items. The following policies are relevant to the application: 
  
5.2 Unitary Development Plan 1998 (as saved September 2007) 
 Proposals:  Road Widening  
    
 Policies: DEV1 Design Requirements  
  DEV2 Environmental Requirements  
  DEV3 Mixed Use Developments  
  DEV4 Planning Obligations  
  DEV9 Control of Minor Works 
  DEV12 Provision Of Landscaping in Development  
  DEV17 Street Furniture 
  DEV28 Demolition in Conservation Areas 
  DEV42 Protection of Ancient Monuments 
  DEV43 Protection of Archaeological Heritage 
  DEV44 Preservation of Archaeological Remains 
  DEV46 Protection of Waterway Corridors 
  DEV48 Development with Water Frontage 
  DEV49 Proposals for Moored vessels 
  DEV50  Noise 
  DEV51 Contaminated Soil  
  DEV55 Development and Waste Disposal 
  DEV56 Waste Recycling 
  DEV57 Development and Sites of Nature Conservation Importance 
  DEV63 Green Chains and Walkways 
  DEV69 Efficient Use of Water 
  EMP1 Promoting economic growth and employment opportunities 
  EMP6 Employing local People 
  EMP8 Encouraging Small Business Growth 
  EMP10 Business Development Elsewhere in the Borough 
  HSG7 Dwelling Mix and Type  
  HSG13 Internal Space Standards  
  HSG15 Development Affecting Residential Amenity  
  HSG16 Housing Amenity Space 
  T10 Priorities for Strategic Management 
  T16  Traffic Priorities for New Development  
  T18 Pedestrians and the Road Network  
  T21 Pedestrians Needs in New Development 
  T26 Use of Waterways for Freight 
  ST34 Viability of District Centres 
  ST35 Reasonable Range of Local Shops 
  S7  Special Uses 
  S10 Requirements for New Shop front Proposals 
  OS9 Children’s Playspace 
  
5.3 Interim Planning Guidance for the purposes of Development Control (October 2007) 
 Proposals:  Central Area Action Plan 
   Road Widening Safeguarding 
    

Page 24



    
 Core Strategies: CP1 Creating Sustainable Communities 
  CP2 Equality of Opportunity 
  CP3 Sustainable Environment 
  CP4 Good Design 
  CP5 Supporting Infrastructure 
  CP9 Employment Space for Small Businesses 
  CP11 Sites in Employment Use 
  CP15 Provision of a Range of Shops and Services 
  CP19 New Housing Provision 
  CP20 Sustainable Residential Density 
  CP21 Dwelling Mix and Type 
  CP22 Affordable Housing 
  CP24 Special Needs and Specialist Housing 
  CP25 Housing and Amenity Space 
  CP28 Healthy Living 
  CP29 Improving Education Skills 
  CP30 Improving open-spaces 
  CP31 Biodiversity 
  CP33 Site of Nature Conservation Importance 
  CP34 Green Chains 
  CP36 The Water Environment and Waterside Walkways 
  CP38 Energy Efficiency and Production of Renewable Energy 
  CP39 Sustainable Waste Management 
  CP40 A Sustainable Transport Network 
  CP41 Integrating Development with Transport 
  CP42 Streets for People 
  CP44 Promoting Sustainable Freight Movement 
  CP46 Accessible and Inclusive Environments 
  CP47 Community Safety 
  CP49 Historic Environment 
 Policies: DEV1 Amenity 
  DEV2 Character and Design 
  DEV3 Accessibility and Inclusive Design 
  DEV4 Safety and Security 
  DEV5 Sustainable Design 
  DEV6 Energy Efficiency 
  DEV7 Water Quality and Conservation 
  DEV8 Sustainable Drainage  
  DEV9 Sustainable Construction Materials  
  DEV10 Disturbance from Noise Pollution  
  DEV11 Air Pollution and Air Quality  
  DEV12 Management of Demolition and Construction 
  DEV13 Landscaping and Tree Preservation 
  DEV15 Waste and Recyclables Storage  
  DEV16 Walking and Cycling Routes and Facilities  
  DEV17 Transport Assessments 
  DEV18  Travel Plans  
  DEV19 Parking for Motor Vehicles  
  DEV20  Capacity of Utility Infrastructure 
  DEV22 Contaminated Land  
  DEV27  Tall Buildings Assessment  
  EE2 Redevelopment/Change of Use of Employment Sites 
  EE3 Relocation of Businesses Outside of Strategic Industrial 

Locations and Local Industrial Locations 
  RT3 Shopping Provision Outside of Town Centres 
  RT4 Retail Development and the Sequential Approach 

Page 25



  HSG1 Determining Residential Density  
  HSG2 Housing Mix  
  HSG3 Affordable Housing  
  HSG4 Ratio of Social Rent to Intermediate Housing 
  HSG7 Housing Amenity Space  
  HSG9 Accessible and Adaptable Homes  
  HSG10  Calculating Affordable Housing  
  OSN3 Blue Ribbon Network 
  CON1 Listed Buildings 
  CON2 Conservation Areas 
  CON3 Protection of Historic Parks and Gardens 
  CON4 Archaeology and Ancient Monuments 
    
    
    
5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
  Residential Space Standards  
  Archaeology and Development  
  Canal-side Development 
  Riverside Walkways 
  Designing Out Crime Parts 1 and 2 
 
5.5 

 
Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London (London Plan) 2004 

 Polices  2A.1 Sustainability Criteria 
  3A.1 Increasing London’s Supply of Housing  
  3A.2 Borough Housing Targets  
  3A.3 Maximising the potential of sites 
  3A.5 Housing Choice  
  3A.6 Quality of new housing provision 
  3A.9 Affordable Housing Targets 
  3A.17 Protection of social infrastructure 
  3A.23 Health Impacts 
  3A.24 Education Facilities 
  3B.1 Developing London’s Economy 
  3C.1 Integrating Transport and Development  
  3C.2 Matching Development with Transport Capacity 
  3C.22 Improving conditions for cycling 
  3C.23 Parking Strategy 
  3D.10 Open Space Provision in UDPs 
  3D.13 Children’s and Young people’s play space 
  3D.14 Biodiversity and Nature Conservation 
  4A.3 Sustainable Design and Construction  
  4A.7 Renewable Energy  
  4A.11 Living Roofs and Walls 
  4A.14 Sustainable Drainage 
  4A.19 Improving air quality 
  4B.1 Design Principles for a Compact City  
  4B.3 Enhancing the Quality of the Public Realm 
  4B.5 Creating an Inclusive Environment  
  4B.6 Sustainable Design and Construction  
  4C.1 Blue Ribbon Network 
  4C.11 Improving access alongside Blue Ribbon Network 

 
5.6 Government Planning Policy Guidance/Statements 
  PPS1 Delivering Sustainable Development 
  PPS3 Housing 
  PPG15 Planning and the Historic Environment  

Page 26



  
5.7 Community Plan The following Community Plan objectives relate to the application: 
  A better place for living safely 
  A better place for living well 
  A better place for creating and sharing prosperity 
  
 
 
6. CONSULTATION RESPONSE 
  
6.1 The views of officers within the Directorate of Development and Renewal are expressed in 

the MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section below. The following were consulted 
regarding the application:  
 

 British Waterways (Statutory Consultee) 
6.1 British Waterways has no objection to the scheme subject to the following: 

- A financial contribution of £20,000 towards cycling improvements, new signage, 
maintenance and graffiti removal. 

- Conditions requiring the submission of additional detail in relating to the condition 
of the waterway wall, a risk assessment relating to water safety, landscaping, 
proposed lighting and CCTV. 

 
Officer Comment:  The financial contribution would be secured in a S106 agreement.  The 
requested conditions would be imposed on any permission.     
 

 Environment Agency (Statutory Consultee) 
6.2 The Environment Agency have stated that they have no objection to the development subject 

to the following conditions 
 

- Details of proposed living roofs, landscape management, detail of brown roofs, 
use of local plant species in vicinity of canal, detail of canal wall construction, 
detail of type of recycled timber, detail of canal wall planting, detail of 
management plan for planting, detail of storage facilities for oil or fuels. 

 
Officer Comment:  Conditions to cover the planning issues raised by the Environment 
Agency would be placed on any permission.  
 

 English Heritage (Statutory Consultee) 
6.3 Historic Buildings and Areas Section  

English Heritage have stated that they would not wish to comment in detail and offered the 
following general observations:- 
 

- The existing structures on-site appear to be of no particular architectural or 
historic interest. 

- The site is important and forms part of the visual boundary of Victoria Park (which 
is included in the Register of Parks and Gardens at Grade II Star). 

- Gunmakers Lane is a historic street, and whilst they understand the desire to 
flagpost the entrance to the park they have concerns regarding the opening up of 
the narrow thoroughfare by the positioning of blocks B and C at an angle to the 
prevailing orthodox geometry of the area. 

- Note that granite kerbs survive on the west side of Gunmakers Lane which should 
be retained and supplemented.   

- The road surface of the bridge should also be upgraded with historic materials. 
- Conditions should be imposed to protect Three Colt Bridge Abutments and to 

require details of materials and landscaping.    
 

6.4 Officer Comment:  These matters are discussed in more detail in the design section of this 

Page 27



report.  The submission of detail in relation to landscaping, materials and bridge protection  
would be secured by condition.  The resurfacing of the bridge is not part of this application 
 

6.5 Greater London Archaeology Advisory Service 
GLAAS have reviewed the submitted Archaeological Desk based Assessment and have 
concluded that the proposal would not have any significant impacts on archaeological 
remains. 
 

6.6 Inspector of Ancient Monuments 
No objection in relation to works adjacent to scheduled ancient monument.  Incumbent on 
developer not to cause damage 
 

  
 National Air Traffic Services Ltd (NATS) 
6.7 No objection 

 
 British Broadcasting Corporation – Reception Advice 
6.8 No comments received 

 
 Thames Water   
6.9 Thames Water note that it is the responsibility of the developer to make proper provision for 

drainage to ground, water courses or a suitable sewer.  It is also noted that oil interceptors 
should be fitted to prevent the pollution of water courses.  An informative in relation to water 
pressure in the area is also requested 
 

6.10 Officer Comment:  These matters are satisfactorily controlled under other legislation, an 
informative would be placed on permission 
 

 London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority  
6.11 The LFEPA have stated that access and facilities for fire-fighting appliances are not apparent 

from the planning application and that the proposal does not appear to meet the functional 
requirements of Building Regulations.  The LFEPA would recommend that the Developer 
consults with them at an early opportunity to avoid conflicting interests. 
 

6.12 Officer Comment:  Compatibility between landscaping arrangements and the requirements of 
the emergency services can be considered during the discharge of condition process. 
 

 National Grid 
6.13 Responded to consultation stating that there was negligible risk to operational electricity and 

gas transmission networks. 
 

 Transport for London  
6.14 TfL have stated that the proposal would not have any unacceptable impact on the road 

network.  TfL have questioned some of the data in the submitted Transport Assessment 
(Officer comment:  TA was revised). 
 

6.15 TfL would accept a contribution of £175 000 from the developer to improve public transport in 
the vicinity of the site.  TfL note than such a sum, for example, could be sufficient to add an 
extra bus journey to route 8 in the morning peak to avoid overcrowding and improve 
reliability.    
 

6.16 TfL recommend that a car-free agreement is used to prevent future residents from obtaining 
on-street car-parking permits.  (Officer comment:  This would be secured in the S106 legal 
agreement. 
 

6.17 TfL recommend that cycle parking should be provided for the non-residential component of 
the scheme.  (Officer comment:  The amended plans include provision of non-residential 

Page 28



cycle parking). 
 

6.18 TfL recommend that a Travel Plan for the development is produced.  (Officer comment:  This 
would be secured in a S106 legal agreement). 

  
 Natural England 
6.19 No comments received 

 
 Garden History Society (Statutory Consultee) 
6.20 No comments received 
  
 LBTH Highways 
6.21 The Council’s Highway Department have agreed to the provision of a shared surface on 

Gunmakers Lane and consider the submitted Transport Assessment acceptable.  The 
Highways Department also request:  
 

- Provision of car-club space 
- Car-free agreement 
- Financial contribution of £75 000 to improve footway on southside of Old Ford 

Road from St Stephens Road to Ford Street 
- Financial contribution of £150, 000 towards the upgrade and improvement of 

Gunmakers Lane 
- The agreement of the developer to dedicate at least 2.4m width of land on 

Gunmakers Lane to facilitate the construction of a 2.4 meter width of footway on 
both side of the road. 

- The agreement of the developer to dedicate at least 1m width of land on Old Ford 
Road to facilitate the construction of a 2.4 meter width of footway on the North 
side of Old Ford Road.  

- Other necessary highway improvement works 
 
 

6.22 Officer comment:  The developer has agreed to the requested financial contributions.  The 
other matters would be secured using conditions and/or legal agreements as appropriate. 
 

 LBTH Building Control 
6.23 The Council’s Building Control section have indicated that in general terms the layouts of the 

flats, duplex units and studios are generally acceptable.  A number of comments are made in 
relation to the need for smoke control and the position of staircases.  It is also noted that the 
landscaping may have to be altered to allow Fire Brigade Access to the central courtyard. 
 
Officer Response:  The issues raised are controlled under Building Regulations.  The detail 
of the landscaping will be secured by condition and the Applicant would be reminded of the 
need to ensure suitable access for the emergency services.  
   

 LBTH Education 
6.24 The Council’s Education section have assessed the proposal as requiring a contribution 

towards 23 additional primary school places totalling £283,866.  
 
Officer Response:  The contribution has been agreed with the Developer and would be 
secured via a S106 legal agreement  
 
 

 LBTH Environment and Ecology Officer 
6.25 No comments received 

 
 LBTH Energy Efficiency Unit 
6.26 The Council’s Energy Officer has reviewed the scheme and notes that energy efficiency 

Page 29



measures are in-line with current standards.  The use of community district heating and a 
biomass boiler is also considered appropriate.  Details of the size of the fuel store and the 
source of fuel would be required by condition.    
 
The application proposes that the development will be completed to Sustainable Homes 
Code Level 3.  This would also be secured by condition. 
 
 

 LBTH Housing 
6.27 The Council’s Housing Section have reviewed the scheme and have noted that 

 
- the scheme overall is still delivering 37% affordable housing 
-  the scheme delivers a 72:28 split between socially rented and intermediate, 

which, as with the original submission, is between the the Council's expectation of 
80:20 and the 70:30 target set by the London Plan. 

-  the revised scheme will deliver an additional 3 bedroom wheelchair accessible 
unit on the ground floor  

 
Officer comment:  Housing is discussed in detail at later section of the report. 
 

 LBTH Environmental Health 
6.28 Contaminated Land 

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the submitted Phase 1 Desk Study 
and concluded that additional intrusive investigations would be required if planning 
permission were granted. 
 
Officer Response:  This would be secured by condition. 
 

6.29 Air Quality 
 
The Council’s Air Quality Officer requires the submission of additional information in relation 
to potential emissions from the biomass boiler including the height of the flue. 
 
Officer response:  This would be secured by condition. 
 

6.30 Sunlight / Daylight 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer is satisfied with the submitted Sunlight and 
Daylight Report.   This matter is discussed in more detail under the main issues section of 
this report.  
 

6.31 Noise 
 
The Council’s Noise Officer has reviewed the submitted Acoustic Survey and is satisfied that, 
with suitable sound attenuating glazing, future occupants of the development will not suffer 
from unacceptable disturbance from road noise. 
 
Officer Comment:  The installation of suitable glazing would be required by condition 
 
An objection has been raised because at this stage no detail has been submitted in relation 
to potential noise / odour disturbance from the proposed ground floor commercial unit.   
 
Officer Comment:  The submitted plans include a shaft rising through the development from 
the commercial unit to the top of the building.  This shaft could house ventilation equipment 
that might be required.  A condition would require the future submission of details of noise 
output of any proposed plant, including the biomass boiler - and any necessary mitigation 
measures.  

Page 30



 
The Noise Officer is satisfied that the Council’s Environmental Protection and Licensing 
Team can control noise from events in Victoria Park to ensure that future residents do not 
suffer undue noise disturbance 
 

 LBTH Cleansing Team 
6.32 No comments received 

 
 LBTH Cultural Services 
6.33 Cultural Services have requested a financial contribution of £72,364 towards improvements 

to Victoria Park 
 
Officer Response:  The contribution has been agreed with the developer and would be 
secured via a S106 legal agreement  
 

 LBTH Primary Care Trust 
6.34 Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust has requested a financial contribution to compensate for 

the additional burden on local heath-care services.  A £771, 747 revenue contribution and a 
£230, 910 capital contribution has been requested.  
 
Officer Comment:  The PCT were advised that LBTH Planning only seek the capital 
contribution as recent appeal decisions suggest that a revenue contribution cannot be 
justified. The PCT dispute that a revenue contribution cannot be justified.  However, Officers 
are of the opinion that, without a more rigorous policy framework and detailed justification on 
the shortfall in local healthcare provision, it is not possible to seek revenue contributions at 
this time.  
 
A capital contribution of £230,910 has been agreed with the developer and will be secured 
via a S106 legal agreement 

  
 Olympic Delivery Authority  
6.35 No comments 
  
 Crime Prevention Design Advisor 
6.36 The Council’s Metropolitan Police Crime Design Advisor has commended the Architects for 

adjusting the scheme to include active frontages to Gunmakers Lane.  However, a concern is 
raised that public development to the canal ‘is not a good idea’ and is likely to lead to anti-
social behaviour and crime. 
 
Officer response:  The detailed design of the scheme is discussed in a latter section of the 
report. Council policy does not support the creation of gated communities and the benefit 
creating a permeable development with public access to the canal is considered to outweigh 
the concerns raised.     
 

 
7. LOCAL REPRESENTATION 
  
7.1 A total of 415 neighbouring properties within the area shown on the map appended to this 

report were notified about the application and invited to comment. The application has also 
been publicised in East End Life and on site. The number of representations received from 
neighbours and local groups in response to notification and publicity of the application were 
as follows: 

  
 No. of individual responses: 55           Against: 55          In Support: Nil  
  

A petition was received containing 282 signatures objecting to the development 
 

Page 31



 
7.2 Two ward Councillors objected to proposal 

 
 Re-consultation 

 
7.3 During the course of the application the scheme was amended and revised plans submitted.  

Neighbours were re-notified of the proposal and an additional site notice was posted.  The 
number of responses received in response to this re-notification were as follows    

  
No. of individual responses:   15           Against: 15          In Support:  0 
 

 
7.4 

 
This includes all responses received by 23 September 2008.  Any additional responses 
received will be reported to committee in an addendum report.  
 

7.5 The following issues were raised in representations that are material to the determination of 
the application, and they are addressed in the next section of this report: 
 

 Density and land use 
- Density is too high, exceeds London Plan recommendations 
- Site overdeveloped 
- Density more that triple that on Empire Wharf site 
- Density of flats will put excessive pressure on local bus services  
- Existing small businesses should be assisted 
- Commercial uses will probably lie vacant, too much proposed 
- Proposal will not regenerate area 
- Loss employment not justified 
- Application not accompanied by retail impact assessment / sequential test   

 
 Design / bulk / scale / height 

- Building far too large and bulky 
- Overbearing 
- Will dominate views 
- Out of scale with neighbouring buildings  
- Materials do not relate to surroundings  
- Does not relate to character of area  
- Generally unacceptable design  
- Sense of enclosure to Empire Wharf  
- Design to bold  
- Does not respect street pattern  
- Albany works has a small footprint and does not set scale precedent 
- Lack of amenity space indicative of overdevelopment 

 
 Impact on Conservation Area / locally listed buildings 

- Height and design contrary to objectives of Conservation Area Appraisal 
- Proposal will detract from conservation area 
- Block views of park 
- Materials inappropriate  
- Brick is typical of area 
- Poor relation with locally listed building  
- View of park / conservation area blocked from St. Stephens Green 

   
 Loss of light / overshadowing   

- Building will cause unacceptable loss of light / overshadowing 
- Will totally block light 
- Methodology of assessment flawed  
- Only summer conditions assessed 

Page 32



- Not all properties assessed 
- BRE targets not met 

    
 Loss of privacy  

- Direct line of sight into neighbouring properties facing Gunmakers Lane 
- Overlooking of properties on Empire Wharf 
- Overlooking of communal spaces 
- Does not meet 18m separation  distance 

  
 Sense of enclosure 

- Height/scale of building will create sense of enclosure to residents of Empire 
Wharf / properties to East of Gunmakers Lane. 

 
 Impact on local infrastructure 

 
- Local transport, especially number 8 bus, already overcrowded 
- Insufficient school places in area 
- Insufficient GP places 
- Lack of suitable facilities in area e.g. supermarkets 
- Cumulative impact of other developments in area needs to be considered 

(e.g. Safeway site) 
 

 Traffic generation /parking 
- Additional cars will cause congestion 
- Lack of parking, especially given poor transport links 
- Entrance to car-park unsafe 
- Lack commercial parking 
- Increased traffic dangerous to cyclists 

 
 Other issues raisesd 

- Traffic will cause air pollution 
- Loss of habitat for waterfowl / feeding places 
- Loss of security by loss of Empire Wharf Wall 
- Shops / restaurants / open space will encourage loitering youths 
- Noise and disturbance from cars entering underground car-park 
- Noise from proposed shops / restaurants 
- Dust 
- Disturbance during construction process 
- Open-spaces difficult to police 
- Larger S106 contributions could be secured in better economic climate 
- Development will not be built leaving vacant site 
- Increased pressure on Victoria Park e.g. litter generation 
- Amendment to proposal not enough to overcome concerns 

 
7.6 Some letters of objection also contained comments in support of some aspects of the 

proposal.  Specifically: 
 

- Welcome opening up Gunmakers Lane and improved lighting 
- Welcome principle of residential redevelopment 

  
7.7  The following issues were raised in representations that are not considered material to the 

determination of the application: 
 

 Developer Consultation  
Pre-application consultation carried out by Developers was inadequate, some residents 
were not invited, sessions were held at inconvenient times, views of residents were mis-
represented in the submitted report, offers of meeting with residents ignored. 

Page 33



 
Officer comment:  The Council encourages developers to engage with the local 
community.  However, the extent of this is at the discretion of the Developer.  The 
Council also conducts its own consultation in accordance with statutory requirements. 
   

  
 Council Consultation 

Residents concerned that Officers told developer revised plans would be acceptable prior 
to re-consultation. (Officer comment:  Officer advice is always informal, subject to 
consultation and does not bind the formal decision of the Council). 
 
 
Residents did not receive notification of revised plans 
Website not updated / not all residents have access to website 
Users of Victoria Park not aware of proposal 
 
(Officer comment:  Revised letters were sent to all residents originally consulted and a 
site notice was also posted.  This fully meets statutory requirements and the Council 
considers that all necessary consultation has taken place.) 
 
 

 Others 
- Excavation will undermine foundations 
- Housing market will collapse 
- Loss of value of house 
- Loss of view  

  
 
8. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
8.1 The main planning issues raised by the application that the committee must consider are: 

 
1. Land-use 
2. Density 
3. Housing 
4. Design, public realm and impact on Conservation Area 
5. Amenity for future occupiers 
6. Impact on amenity of neighbours 
7. Transport Impacts 
8. Other planning matters 

  
 Land-use 

 
  
8.1 The application site has no specific designations in the adopted Unitary Development Plan 

1998 or the Interim Planning Guidance 2007.  The site currently provides 2500 square 
metres of light industrial floorspace (Use Class B1).  The application proposes a mixed use 
comprising residential (Use Class C3) and 252 square metres of commercial floorspace 
(Use Classes A1/A3/B1 or D1).   
 

8.2 Loss of employment uses  
 
Policies EMP1 and EMP8 of the adopted UDP seek employment growth and the 
development of small businesses.  Policies CP11 and EE2 of the IPG (2007) seek to 
protect sites in employment use, and policy CP9 seeks to retain employment space for 
small business.  The policies require that there should be no net loss of employment 
floorspace unless, it is demonstrated that the continued use of the land is no longer viable.  

Page 34



   
8.3 The main issue is whether the loss of 2500 square metres of employment floorspace can 

be justified.  In accordance with policy requirements, the application has been 
accompanied by a Commercial Viability Assessment prepared by Strettons Chartered 
Surveyors. 
      

8.4 This assessment notes that the Gun Wharf Estate comprises 23 light industrial units 
providing a total of 2500 square metres of floorspace.  Approximately 65% of this is 
currently occupied, providing employment for 37 full-time employees.  The assessment 
states that many of the units have only been let on short term leases after significant voids.  
The report also notes that the low floor to ceiling heights of the units and the lack of lorry 
parking makes the units unattractive to potential occupiers.  The report includes marketing 
information which suggests that some interest has been expressed in letting units, 
although there has only been one viewing in the last 5 months.  
  

8.5 The current occupancy of some of the units and the interest expressed in taking on units 
must be considered in the context of the general decline in demand for industrial 
floorspace in the area.  The Sub Regional Development Framework for East London 
advises that there is more provision for economic activity than is necessary to meet future 
demand.  Specifically, in relation to this site, the submitted viability statement states that 
within 1 mile of the site there are 13 available commercial units providing over 11,000 
square metres of space. 
    

8.6 Given the general decline in demand for employment floorspace, the specific surplus 
identified in the local area and the poor quality of the accommodation being lost, there is 
no identifiable over-riding demand to justify the re-provision of a greater amount of 
employment floorspace than is currently proposed.  The loss of employment floor space is 
therefore acceptable in terms of saved policies EMP1 and EMP8 of the UDP and polices 
CP9, CP11 and EE2 of the IPG (2007).   
   

  
8.7 Principle of a residential use  

 
The principle of the loss of employment floorspace has been considered and found 
acceptable.  In terms of a housing use it is noted that the surrounding area is already 
predominately residential and will therefore provide a suitable environment for future 
residents.  The provision of additional housing is a key aim of national, regional and local 
planning policy and the proposal would accord with policies 3A.1, 3A.3, 3A.5 of the 
consolidated London Plan 2008 and policy CP19 of the IPG (2007) - which seek to 
maximise the supply of housing. 
 

8.8 It is also noted that several objectors supported the principle of the residential 
redevelopment of the site, albeit with a caveat that the scale of current proposal was 
unacceptable. 
 

8.9 Principle of provision of commercial use 
 
The application proposes the provision of 252 square metres of ground floor commercial 
space.  This could be used for uses falling within Classes A1 – Retail Shops; A3 – 
Restaurants/Cafes; D1 – Non-Residential Institutions or B1 – Offices. 
 

8.10 The provision of this commercial element adds interest and activity to the Gunmakers Lane 
elevation.  It is therefore acceptable in land-use terms as it accords with policy DEV3 of the 
UDP (1998) which encourages mixed use developments.  The potential amenity impacts of 
these uses are considered below – and are found acceptable in terms of saved UDP policy 
S7. 
 

Page 35



8.11 At 252 square metres, the level of commercial provision is modest (and reduced from the 
amount proposed in the original plans).  It is likely to cater for local convenience needs 
without detriment to the Roman Road District Centre, and as such it would accord with 
saved UDP policies ST34 and ST35.  The relatively low level of provision means the 
scheme is unlikely to suffer from the problem of new units remaining vacant which 
objectors identified as a problem in other new developments.  For these reasons, the 
development is considered to accord with the requirements of saved UDP policies ST34 
and S7. 
 

8.12 A planning consultant acting for objectors to the development has noted that the proposal 
was not accompanied by a retail impact statement as required by IPG policy RT4 for new 
retail development under 2500 square metres.  It is noted that policy RT4 states the 
amount of evidence required for retail impact statements should be proportionate to the 
scale and nature of the proposal.  Officers are satisfied that a full assessment of the impact 
of the commercial element of this scheme can be made without the need for a separate 
statement. 

  
 Density of Development 
    
8.13 National planning guidance in PPS1: Sustainable Development and PPS3: Housing 

stresses the importance of making the most efficient use of land and maximising the 
amount of housing.  This guidance is echoed in the requirements of London Plan Policy 
3A.3 – which requires development to maximise the potential of sites, and policy 4B.1 – 
which details design principles for a compact city.  Interim Planning Guidance (2007) 
policies CP20 and HSG1 also seek to maximise residential densities on individual sites 
subject to acceptable environmental impacts and local context.  
 

8.14 The site has an area of 0.56 ha and a residential density of 754 habitable rooms per 
hectare.  In an urban area with a PTAL of 2 London Plan Policy 3A.3 states than a density 
range of 200 – 450 hr/ha is appropriate.   
    

8.15 In the simplest of numerical terms, the proposed density would appear to suggest an 
overdevelopment of the site.  However, the intent of the London Plan and the Council’s 
Interim Planning Guidance is to maximise the highest possible intensity of use compatible 
with local context, good design and public transport capacity.     
 

8.16 Residents have objected to the scheme on the grounds that the density exceeds the 
recommended ranges.  However, it should be noted that solely exceeding the 
recommended range is not sufficient reason to warrant refusing a planning application.  It 
would also be necessary to demonstrate that the high density value was symptomatic of an 
overdevelopment of the site.  Typically an overdeveloped site will experience shortfalls in 
one or more of the following areas: 
 
- Access to sunlight and daylight 
- Sub-standard dwelling units 
- Increased sense of enclosure 
- Loss of outlook 
- Increased traffic generation 
- Detrimental impacts on local social and physical infrastructure 
- Visual amenity 
- Lack of open space; or 
- Poor housing mix  
 
These specific factors are considered in detail in later sections of the report – and are 
found to be acceptable.  
 

8.17 Policies CP20 and HSG1 of the Interim Planning Guidance seek to maximise residential 

Page 36



densities on individual sites taking into consideration:- 
 

- Local context and character 
- Residential amenity 
- Site accessibility 
- Housing mix and type 
- Achieving high quality, well designed homes 
- Maximising resource efficiency 
- Minimising adverse environmental impacts 
- The capacity of social and physical infrastructure and open spaces; and 
- To ensure the most efficient use of land within the borough 

 
8.18 In the case of this proposal it is considered that 

 
- The proposal is of a particularly high quality that responds to the local context 

by delivering a significantly improved entrance to Victoria Park. 
 
- The proposal does not result in any of the adverse symptoms of 

overdevelopment 
 

- The proposal provides good quality homes, including larger family houses, of an 
appropriate mix with an acceptable percentage of affordable housing.  

  
- The package of S106 mitigation measures including contributions towards 

affordable housing, heath-care, education, Victoria Park and transport will 
mitigate for any potential adverse impacts on social and physical infrastructure. 

 
  

8.19 There are numerous examples of developments where the Council has accepted a density 
above the suggested range, where it has been demonstrated that there are no adverse 
impacts from a development.  In overall terms, Officers are satisfied that the development 
makes the most efficient use of land.  The proposed mitigation measures, including 
financial contributions towards local education, heathcare, transport and greenspaces, 
ensure that the development has no significant adverse impacts and accords with the aims 
of London Plan policy 3A.3 and IPG policies CP20 and HSG1. 

  
 Housing 
8.20 The application proposes 139 residential (Class C3) units in the following mix when split 

into market, social-rent, shared-ownership tenures: 
 

 Market 
Sale 

Social 
Rent 

Shared 
Ownership 

Studios 8 0 0 
1 Bedroom unit 25 6 5 
2 Bedroom unit 32 10 6 
3 bedroom unit 28 10 4 
4 Bedroom unit 0 0 0 
5 Bedroom unit 0 5 0 
Total Units 93 31 15 
Total Affordable Units  46 
 
 

Page 37



8.21 This section of the report considers the acceptability of the housing provision on site in 
terms level of affordable housing, mix of tenures, mix of dwellings sizes and provision of 
wheelchair units. 
 

 Affordable Housing 
8.22 London Plan policies 3A.8 and 3A.9 state Boroughs should seek the maximum amount of 

affordable housing.  Interim Planning Guidance Policies CP22 and HSG3 require the 
provision of 35% affordable housing on schemes of 10 dwellings or more.  Policy HSG10 
notes that it is acceptable for the proportion of affordable housing to be calculated using 
habitable rooms as the primary measure.  
 

8.23 The scheme provides a total of 46 affordable housing units, which equates to 37.7% of the 
habitable rooms in accordance with IPG policy CP22.  
 

 Social Rent / Intermediate Ratio 
8.24 London Plan policy 3A.9 states that there should be mix of tenures within the affordable 

housing units with 70% social rent and 30% shared ownership.  The Council’s own IPG 
policy CP22 requires a split of 80% social rent and 20% shared ownership given the 
particular shortage of social rent units in the Borough.   
 
 

8.25 The application proposes the following mix of tenure types 
 
Tenure Number Hab. 

Rooms 
% London Plan  

Policy 3A.9 target 
IPG (2007) 
target 

Social Rent 117 73% 70% 80% 
Shared Ownership 44 27% 30% 20% 
Total 161    
 
 

8.26 At 73% the amount of social rent units does not quite reach the 80% target set by IPG 
policy CP22.  However, given the compliance with the 70% minimum specified in the 
adopted London Plan policy 3A.9 the proposed mix of tenures is acceptable.  
 

 Mix of dwelling sizes 
8.27 The Council’s housing studies have identified that there is a significant deficiency of family 

housing within the Borough.  This shortage is reflected in Council policy which seeks to 
ensure development provides a range of dwelling sizes.      
 
Saved policy HSG7 of the UDP (1998) requires development to provide a mix of unit sizes.  
London Plan policy 3A.5 also requires development to offer a range of housing choice.  
Interim Planning Guidance policies CP21 and HSG2 specify the particular mix of unit sizes 
required across different tenures in the Borough.     
 

8.28 Social Rent: 
 
Table DC1: Housing Mix in IPG policy HSG2 details the mix of units required in the social 
rent tenure.  These figures and the breakdown of the proposed accommodation are shown 
in the table below: -. 
 
Housing Mix: Social Rent 
 
Unit 
Size 

no 
Units 

IPG 
Target % 

Proposed 
% 

Studio 0 0 0 
1 Bed 6 20 20 
2 Bed 10 35 32 

Page 38



3 Bed 10 30 32 
4 Bed 0 10 0 
5 Bed 5 5 16 
Totals 31 100    

8.29 
 
The development exceeds policy requirements (the target values for 4 and 5 bed units 
have been added given the absence of 4 bed units) and the proposal accords with IPG 
policy HSG2.  It is also noted that the development includes 5 x 5 bedroom ‘houses’ with 
private gardens which is a particularly valued form of accommodation.   
 

8.30 Market and Shared Ownership: 
 
Interim Planning Guidance requires both market and shared ownership housing to provide 
an even mix of dwelling sizes and a minimum of 25% family housing (taken as dwellings 
with 3 or more bedrooms). 
 
The application proposes 
 
Housing Mix: Shared Ownership  
Unit Size No. Units IPG Target % Proposed % 
1 Bed 5 - 33 
2 Bed 6 - 40 
3 Bed 4 25 27 
 
Housing Mix: Market Sale 
Unit Size No. Units IPG Target % Proposed % 
Studio 8 - 9% 
1 Bed 25 - 27% 
2 Bed 32 - 34% 
3 Bed 28 25 30%   

8.31 
 
In the case of both shared ownership and market flats the proposed development exceeds 
the requirements of IPG policy HSG2 of provide at least 25% family sized units and the 
proposal is therefore acceptable. 
 

 Wheelchair Housing and Lifetime Homes 
8.32 London Plan policy 3A.5 and Interim Planning Guidance policy HSG9 require housing to 

be designed to ‘Lifetime Homes’ standards and for 10% of all new housing to be 
wheelchair accessible.   
  

8.33 It total 7 wheelchair accessible units are proposed.  These are located within Block D 
within the social rent tenure.  The scheme currently only shows 6 demarcated wheelchair 
parking bays and this should be increased to 7.  This matter can easily be resolved by 
condition if permission is granted.  A further ten units could also be adapted for wheelchair 
use if required.      
   

8.34 In terms of compliance with lifetime homes standards, it is noted that 5 of the units do not 
comply with the requirement ‘the living room should be at entrance level’.  These five units 
are the duplex houses which have living accommodation at first floor level.  It is noted that 
these units do have a bedroom at ground floor level which could be used as living 
accommodation if this proved necessary.   
 
In overall terms, the majority of the units fully comply with lifetime homes standards and 
the level of wheelchair housing provision is accord with the requirements of London Plan 
policy 3A.5 and IPG policy HSG9.  
 

Page 39



 
 Design, public realm, impact on Conservation Area and Listed Bridge  

 
 Design 
8.35 Good design is central to the objectives of national, regional and local planning policy.  

Chapter 4B of the London Plan refers to ‘Principles and specifics of design for a compact 
city’ and specifies a number of policies aimed at achieving good design.  These policies 
are reflected in saved policies DEV1, DEV2 and DEV3 of the UDP; and IPG policies DEV1 
and  DEV2. 
      

8.36 These policies require new development to be sensitive to the character of the surrounding 
area in terms of design, bulk, scale and the use of materials.  They also require 
development to be sensitive to the capabilities of the site. 
 

8.37 Policy CP4 of the IPG seeks to ensure new development creates buildings and spaces that 
are of high quality in design and construction, are sustainable, accessible, attractive, safe 
and well integrated with their surroundings. 
 

8.38 The application is not a ‘tall building’ within the definition set by the Mayor as it is not 
higher than 30m above ground level.  However, the 6 storey part of the scheme could be 
considered significantly higher than the surrounding buildings.  In light of the level of 
objection received on the grounds of height, consideration has also been given to relevant 
criteria in IPG policy DEV27.  
 

8.39 In considering the design of the proposal, it is important to understand the context of the 
site.  The site is the last development opportunity along the Old Ford Road.  The site 
occupies an important location on a key north-south route through the Borough – which 
runs from Tredegar/Roman Road to the south, past St. Stephens Green, up Gunmakers 
Lane and across Three Colts Bridge into Victoria Park.  The site is relatively large and 
occupies a prominent position opposite St. Stephens Green – a large area of open space.   
 

8.40 The current industrial buildings make little positive contribution to the streetscene.  They 
present a long blank flank wall to Gunmakers Lane, creating a relatively unsafe alleyway 
leading from Old Ford Road into the park.  
 

 Layout, height, bulk and appearance  
8.41 Many of the objectors to the proposal (both in its original and revised form) consider that 

the scheme is too large and that it does not respect the character of the surrounding area 
in terms of design and use of materials.  In particular, objectors have stated that the area is 
characterised by 3 / 4 storey development, with only the relatively slender Albany Works 
reaching 6 storey in height. 
     

8.42 It is recognised that the building is larger in scale than many of the neighbouring buildings.  
However, in urban design terms the size of the site and the location opposite a large area 
of public open space provides a justification for a building of the proposed scale.  The 
design quality of the building is high and the building is well articulated helping to eliminate 
any impression of excessive bulk.   
 

8.43 On the Old Ford Road frontage a distance of 27m separates the proposed building from 
Connaught Works and this, coupled with the reduction in height to 5 storey, is considered 
sufficient to ensure these buildings read well together in the streetscene. 
 

8.44 In terms of appearance, the building makes use of an attractive variety of materials 
including brick, cedar shingles, coloured concrete frame, and glazing.  The application 
includes a detailed plan showing how the timber shingles will be fitted at the interface 
between windows and corners.  This plan helps to demonstrate the proposed quality of 
finish to Officers, providing additional re-assurance on the final design quality. 

Page 40



 
8.45 The introduction of splashes of colour to the balconies fronting Old Ford Road adds visual 

interest to this elevation.  The building meets the high design standards required by policy 
and is considered to be well integrated to surroundings in accordance with all relevant 
design policies. 
 

  
Access to Victoria Park and public open space  

8.46 The current access to Victoria Park from the South, via Gunmakers Lane, is narrow, 
unsafe and unattractive.  The proposed development realises the opportunity to improve 
this access by creating a landscaped splay running alongside Gunmakers Lane.  The 
scheme also proposes to create a ‘shared-surface’ on Gunmakers Lane - which means 
that there would be no demarcation between the area used for pedestrians and the area 
for cars.  The result of these two design features is the replacement of the existing 
alleyway with a wide and attractive landscaped boulevard.  
 

8.47 In effect this design approach creates a new major entrance to Victoria Park, with the  
contribution of a sizeable amount of the development site to the public realm.  The 
formation of a green-link between Victoria Park and St Stephens Green delivers a marked 
improvement to the accessibility of the park from the South.  This aspect of the proposal is 
considered to be a permanent and tangible benefit to Borough residents, in the vicinity of 
the site and further a-field, and has been given considerable weight by Officers.   
  

8.48 As well as the landscaped splay itself, the development also provides a small area of 
open-space in front of the South abutment to Three Colts Bridge allowing improved views, 
and potentially access, to the canal for the first time.  
 

8.49 To mitigate for any potential additional use of Victoria Park the developer has agreed to 
make a financial contribution of £72, 364 to the Council’s Cultural Services section.   
 

 Impact on Conservation Area 
 

8.50 The site is located in the Victoria Park Conservation Area.  In assessing any development 
proposal in a Conservation Area, the Council must pay special attention to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.  Planning Policy 
Guidance Note 15: Planning and the Historic Environment, provides additional advice on 
the approach to development in Conservation Areas.  This document includes the advice 
that new buildings need not copy their older neighbours in detail, as a variety of styles can 
add interest and form a harmonious group.  
 

8.51 National guidance is carried through to the local level where IPG policy CON2, re-asserts 
that development in Conservation Areas should preserve or enhance the distinctive 
character or appearance of that area in terms of scale, form, height, materials, architectural 
detail and design.    
 

8.52 Victoria Park is included on English Heritage's Register of Parks and Gardens of Special 
Historic Interest at Grade II star.  This is a material consideration and IPG policy CON3 
requires that the impact of the development on the setting of the park should be taken into 
account. 
  

8.53 The character of the Victoria Park Conservation Area is identified in the Council’s 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Guidelines.  The Conservation Area 
comprises the listed park, the formal axial road pattern to the south west and the Victorian 
terraces.  The character of the area is principally defined by Victoria Park.       
 

8.54 The defined conservation area includes a narrow strip of land on the south side of the 
canal, to provide a backdrop to the park.  The application site is located within this strip.  

Page 41



The appraisal notes that the historic industrial buildings associated with the canal make a 
positive contribution to the townscape.  The hard built edge of the canal also creates a 
clear sense of definition.   
 

8.55 The appraisal states that  
 

‘The scale and density of development in the area varies.  The prevailing height is 
3-4 storeys for Victorian terraced housing.  Generally the development of tall 
buildings would be considered inappropriate, as its dominance in the residential 
area would impact on the quality of views within the park’. 

 
8.56 The existing single storey buildings on-site have no historical significance and clearly 

detract from the overall quality of the Conservation Area.  The demolition of these 
buildings, and the erection of a suitable replacement, would accord with the requirements 
of saved UDP policy DEV28 and IPG policy CON2, as it would improve the character of 
the conservation area.  A condition would be placed on any permission to ensure that the 
demolition of the buildings was tied to the construction of a replacement building – to 
prevent a undeveloped site blighting the Conservation Area. 
   

8.57 As discussed under design above, it is accepted that the scale of the building is 
appropriate.  Although neighbouring buildings are predominately lower than the proposal, 
Officers do not consider than in this location the building would appear out of character 
with the Conservation Area or over-dominant.  The creation of a landscaped splay will 
improve the quality of views into and out of the park, which can be seen in the sequence of 
views included in the submitted Design and Access statement.  Views would also be 
improved from St. Stephens Green. 
 

8.58 In assessing the impact on the Conservation Area, careful attention has been paid to the 
canal elevation – as this provides the back drop to the park.  It was considered that this 
elevation needed to respond the character of neighbouring waterside frontages and the 
park opposite. The use of cedar timber shingles on the lower floors responds well to the 
softer park character and will provide an attractive backdrop.   
   

8.59 English Heritage has expressed concern that the opening up of Gunmakers Lane with a 
landscaped splay will detract from the historic narrow character of the street.  IPG policy 
CON2 also requires development to respect historic street patterns.  Officers consider that 
the benefits of providing an enhanced entrance to the park, outweigh the importance of 
maintaining the existing narrow alleyway.  The careful use of contrasting landscape 
materials along the old line of Gunmakers Lane will allow the former position of the historic 
street to be recognised within the new landscape splay – providing a link to the past form 
of the area.  There is not considered to be any unacceptable conflict between the layout of 
the development and the prevailing east-west linear form of adjacent blocks. 
 

8.60 English Heritage have also requested the re-use of existing granite sets on site and the 
use of historic materials for re-surfacing works on bridge.  The detail of this would be 
investigated through conditions relating to landscaping and materials. 
 

8.61 The Council’s Design and Conservation section have reviewed the scheme and consider it 
acceptable.    
 

8.62 In overall terms, the replacement of the existing buildings with the proposed development 
is considered to enhance the special character and appearance of the Victoria Park 
Conservation and is appropriate in terms of scale, design and use of materials.  The 
development also respects the setting of the grade II star historic park.  The proposal 
therefore accords with the requirements of IPG policies CON2 and CON3; and advice in 
PPG15.    
 

Page 42



 Impact on Listed Bridge, Scheduled Ancient Monument and Locally Listed Buildings 
 

8.63 Three Colts Bridge is a cast iron Grade II Star listed structure and was probably 
constructed around the same time as the Hertford-Union canal in 1830.  It is also listed as 
scheduled ancient monument.  Scheduling provides legal protection for archaeological 
sites of national importance. 
   

8.64 IPG policy CON1 states that development should not be permitted if it would have an 
adverse impact on the setting of a Listed Building.  Saved UDP policy DEV42 states that 
new development should not adversely impact scheduled ancient monuments.  Guidance 
in PPG15 is also relevant.     
   

8.65 Currently, the setting of the bridge to the South is marred by the proximity to the rear of the 
industrial estate buildings, which gives the area a ‘back of house’ feel.   The proximity of 
these buildings to the bridge also limits viewing opportunities. 
 

8.66 The proposals would create an area of landscaped amenity space in front of the south 
abutments, which would significantly improve the setting of the bridge and open-up 
improved views.  Off-site works to the British Waterways strip of land would also enhance 
the quality of the environment around the bridge and its general setting.    
 

8.67 The Inspector of Ancient Monuments has confirmed that there is no objection to the 
proposed works in terms of impact on the scheduled monument and on this basis the 
proposal is satisfactory.  At the request of English Heritage, a condition would be imposed 
requiring the detail of any proposed works close to the bridge abutments, to ensure that no 
inadvertent damage is caused.     
 

8.68 The buildings to the East of the site, including Gatehouse, Monteith, Albany Works and 
Connaught Works, are locally listed.  For the reasons discussed above the scale and 
appearance of the proposed development are considered acceptable and would improve 
the setting of these buildings.  
 

 Relationship with Hertford-Union Canal 
8.69 The Hertford-Union canal forms part of the Blue Ribbon Network.  Policies in chapter 4C of 

the London Plan, seek the improvement of the capitals waterways.  London Plan policy 
4B.3 requires a high standard of design for water-side development.  Saved UDP policies 
DEV46 and DEV48 seek to enhance waterways and include a requirement that, where 
possible, the public should have access to the waterside.  Advice in Supplementary 
Planning Guidance: Canalside Development is also relevant.    
 

8.70 The proposed development is considered to relate well to the canal. The public have 
improved access to the canal, via the creation of public space adjacent to Three Colts 
Bridge.  A condition would also ensure that the public have access to the canal through the 
central courtyard. The proposal would not cause any permanent overshadowing of the 
canal.  For these reasons, the proposal is considered to accord with requirements of saved 
policies UDP DEV46 and DEV48.   
 

8.71 British Waterways were consulted on the application and have stated that they have no 
objection to the proposal – subject to recommended conditions. If planning permission is 
granted, the Developer would make a financial contribution of £20, 000 to British 
Waterways for improvements to the canal in the vicinity of the site. 
 

 Permeability and Security  
 

8.72 Saved UDP Policy DEV1 and IPG policy DEV4, requires development to consider safety 
and security of users.  Regards should also be given to the principles of Secure by Design.  
However, these matters must also be balanced against requirements to promote site 

Page 43



permeability and inclusive design.    
 

8.73 The development includes an open triple storey entrance to the central courtyard from the 
landscaped splay giving the site good permeability.  The canal can be reached through the 
central courtyard and a condition would be imposed on any permission to ensure public 
access.  Security of the new public spaces is improved by the provision of commercial 
units, providing an active frontage, by the landscaped splay.  
 

8.74 The Council’s Crime Prevention Design Advisor considers that allowing the general public 
into the development could compromise security and that the development should be 
‘gated’.  Officers consider that the benefits of site permeability and providing access to the 
canal outweigh the potential security issues.  Other methods of improving site security, 
such as the provision of CCTV, are likely to allow a good level of security without the need 
for target hardening measures such as fences or gates.  The installation of CCTV would be 
required by condition, and with this safeguard, the development is acceptable in terms of 
security and safety.  The installation of CCTV would also respond to objectors concerns 
regarding the potential for anti-social behaviour in the proposed amenity spaces. 
 
A resident has objected to the proposal on the grounds that the loss of the wall between 
Empire Wharf and the site will decrease security.  The scheme includes replacement 
boundary walls and a building along the length of the boundary with Empire Wharf.  This 
will improve security for residents of Empire Wharf.   
 

  
 Amenity for Future Occupiers and Users 
8.75 Standard of accommodation 

 
London Plan policies 4B.1 and saved UDP policy DEV1 set out general principles of good 
design.  London Plan policy 3A.6 seeks quality in new housing provision.  UDP policy 
HSG13 requires new development to make adequate provision of internal residential 
space.  Supplementary Planning Guidance:  Residential Space sets minimum space 
standards for new development.      
 

 Floorspace 
8.76 The submitted schedule of housing shows that the flats are generally well sized, in-line 

with the requirements of supplementary planning guidance.  Though some of the 2b4p and 
3b/5p units are less than standard required by supplementary planning guidance, other 
units exceed the minimum.  When the scheme is looked at as a whole the units area 
acceptable in size.  The flats tend to be well laid out with dedicated circulation space and 
provision of storage areas.  Many of the units are dual aspect or have views out across 
areas of landscaped space - which is indicative of the high standard of residential 
accommodation provided by the development.  All units benefit from balconies, a feature 
which is usually much valued by future residents.   
 

 Daylight / Sunlight 
8.77 The submitted daylight and sunlight study considers proposed light-levels within the 

proposed development.  Daylight Distribution calculations have been determined for those 
rooms in the development that are likely to receive the least light.  These show that all 
rooms will receive sufficient natural daylight to pass BRE targets resulting in an acceptable 
standard of accommodation. 
      

 Privacy 
8.78 Within the development a distance of at least 20m separates directly opposing rooms 

ensuring that future residents will have sufficient privacy.  Where the distance is less than 
20m overlooking is from a more oblique angle reducing any potential overlooking to an 
acceptable level.   
   

Page 44



 Noise 
 The development has been accompanied by a Noise Assessment produced by Enviros 

Consulting.  The study notes that the site is affected by road noise and proposes the use of 
sound attenuating glass in rooms fronting Old Ford Road.  This would be secured by 
condition. 
 
The commercial units could also have an impact on the development in terms of potential 
noise and disturbance from machinery / ventilation equipment, or from users.  Conditions 
would be used to require the submission of the detail, and likely noise output from any 
mechanical equipment for approval.  A condition would also prevent the late opening of 
any commercial use e.g. café that could cause noise, disturbance or activity in the late 
evening.  With these controls the occupants of the development would not suffer from any 
unreasonable noise or disturbance and the proposal would be acceptable.  
 

 Residential Amenity Space 
8.79 Saved UDP policy HSG 16 (Housing Amenity Space) requires that new development 

should make adequate provision of amenity space.  Interim Planning Guidance Policies 
CP25 and HSG7 sets minimum space standards for the provision of private, communal 
and child play space in new developments.  London Policy 3D.13 on the provision of child 
play space is also relevant.    
 

8.80 The requirements of policy HSG7 and the level of private amenity space in the 
development and is shown below:- 

  
Category HSG7 

Policy 
Standard 

Number of 
units 

Policy 
Requirement 

(sqm) 
Proposed 

Ground floor 
units with 3 or 
more beds 

50 13 650  341 

Ground floor 
units with less 
than 3 beds 

25 8 200 114.6 

Other 1 bed 
units and 
studios 

6 39 234 204 

Other 2 or more 
bedroom units 

10 79 790 972 
TOTAL  139 1874 1631    

8.81 The application proposes 1631 square metres of private amenity space in the form of 
balconies for the flats on the upper floors and garden space for the ground level 
accommodation.  All units benefit from some amenity space.  The total level of private 
provision is less than the policy requirement.  However, it is considered to be acceptable 
given the provision of communal space, public open space and the proximity to the park. 
 

8.82 In terms of communal amenity space HSG7 requires the provision of 50 squares of 
amenity space for the first 10 units plus a further 5 square metres for each 5 additional 
units thereafter.  For a development of 139 units this triggers a policy requirement of 179 
squares metres of communal amenity space.    
 

8.83 The application makes good provision of high-quality amenity space in the form of the 
large communal landscaped area in the centre of the development.  In total this space has 
an area of 1491 square metres.  The better quality space is found towards the canal 
adjacent to the entrance to Block A.  A further area of space is provide adjacent to three-
Colts Bridge and the more public space created in the landscaped splay would also be 
available to residents.   

Page 45



 
8.84 BRE standards suggest that to be valued, amenity space should not experience 

permanent overshadowing more than 25% of the time. All private and communal areas 
comply with this requirement.  
 

8.85 Policy HSG 7 also requires the provision of child playspace in new development.  The 
developer has indicated that this could be provided within the landscaped areas of the 
communal courtyard.  The detail of this could be secured by condition to ensure 
compliance with London Plan policy 3D.13.   
 

8.86 In overall terms the provision of private and communal amenity space is considered good.  
The area of land is acceptable, and the high quality of the landscaping and canal-side 
setting ensure that the standard of space is likely to be valued by future residents and 
accords with UDP policy HSG16 and IPG policy HSG7. 

  
 Refuse and recycling 
8.87 Provision is made for refuse and recycling in four separate stores located on the ground 

floor of each block.  Access to the stores for collection is achieved via Gunmakers Lane 
and the hard-landscaped central courtyard area.  This is satisfactory and accords with 
requirements of saved UDP policy DEV55, which seeks to ensure development makes 
adequate provision for the collection and storage of refuse.  
 

 Amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
  

Daylight and Sunlight  
8.88 Policy DEV2 of the UDP seeks to ensure that adjoining buildings are not adversely 

affected by a material deterioration in their daylighting and sunlighting conditions.  Policy 
DEV1 of the IPG states that development should not result in a material deterioration of 
sunlight and daylighting conditions for surrounding occupants.     

  
8.89 The Applicant has submitted a detailed Daylight and Sunlight Report produced by 

Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners.  The methodology and findings of this assessment have 
been carefully reviewed by Officers.  In response to this review, additional information was 
requested to ensure that all sunlight / daylight issues have been thoroughly assessed.  
 

8.90 It should be noted that the daylight/sunlight study was prepared on the basis of the original 
drawings.  As the scale of the building has been reduced, any potential impacts would be 
lesser.  
 

8.91 The submitted study assesses the impact of the development on existing properties 
surrounding the development site.  The study makes an assessment of the twelve main 
rooms and bedrooms (in total 34 rooms) within neighbouring residential properties that will 
be most affected by the development.  This includes rooms in Gatehouse, Monteith, 
Albany Works, Connaught Works and Empire Wharf.  The rooms were selected because 
the windows represent the ‘worst-case’ scenario.  Rooms in properties further away from 
the development will receive a lesser impact.  
   

8.92 The study also assesses the impact of the development on itself and the potential 
overshadowing of the canal and surrounding open-space.    
 

 Daylight: 
8.93 Daylight is normally calculated by two methods – the vertical sky component (VSC) and 

the average daylight factor (ADF).  The latter is considered a more detailed and accurate 
measure because it considers not only the amount of sky visibility on the vertical face of a 
particular window, but also window and room sizes. 
 

8.94 The submitted study show that worst-case rooms all pass the relevant ADF targets.  In 

Page 46



response to objections the Applicant also submitted an extra assessment of rooms some 
distance from the development that were previously omitted (22-23 Albany Court).  These 
rooms also past relevant VSC and ADF plots. 
 

 Sunlight: 
8.95 Sunlight is assessed through the calculation of annual probable sunlight hours (APSH).  

This method of assessment considers the amount of sun available in the summer and 
winter for each window within 90 degrees of due south (i.e. those windows which receive 
sunlight). 
 

8.96 The results of the study show annual and winter sunlight levels, at all neighbouring 
windows requiring assessment, will remain above BRE targets.  The impact on 
neighbouring sunlight is therefore considered acceptable. 
    

 Overshadowing: 
8.97 The study includes an assessment of potential overshadowing of existing residential 

amenity space, the canal and Victoria Park.   
 

8.98 The study shows that the canal and Victoria Park will experience additional overshadowing 
during the morning hours.  At the spring / autumn equinox, the canal would be 
overshadowed until 3.00pm. However, this impact is transitory and there will be no 
permanent overshadowing.  On this basis, the impact of the development on these existing 
public amenity spaces is acceptable.  
 

8.99 The potential overshadowing of the central courtyard area of Empire Wharf and the canal-
side areas has also been considered.  It is noted that the central courtyard is 
predominately car-parking and has little amenity value; whilst the canal-side areas, which 
are located to the north of the building, already experience considerable overshadowing.   
  

8.100 The study shows that these areas will receive some transitory morning overshadowing 
throughout the year.  However this will not continue beyond 11.00am.  Given the low 
quality of the areas affected this impact is considered to be acceptable.  
   

8.101 An objector stated that the proposal will overshadow St. Stephens Green.  However, this is 
located to the South of the building and will not suffer any overshadowing.   
 

8.102 Objectors to the development questioned whether the overshadowing assessment should 
have included a consideration of the potential impact during the winter months.  BRE 
guidance recommends that studies are based on the impact during the Spring Equinox – 
as this date is a best reflection of the impact of the proposal throughout the year.  Analysis 
during the winter months has limited value because of the low angle of the sun in the sky 
and Officers are satisfied with the methodology employed.    
 

 Conclusions: 
8.103 The submitted study shows that the development will have some adverse impact on 

neighbours in terms of loss of light, loss of sunlight and overshadowing.  However, the 
study also robustly demonstrates that these losses do not exceed recommendations given 
in BRE guidance.  As the development meets BRE guidance it is acceptable in terms of 
UDP policy DEV2 and IPG policy DEV1.     
 

 Overlooking / loss of privacy 
8.104 Saved UDP Policy DEV 2 requires that new development should be designed to ensure 

that there is sufficient privacy for neighbouring residents.  The policy states that a distance 
of 18m between opposing habitable rooms reduces inter-visibility to a degree acceptable to 
most people. 
 

8.105 The main issue is whether the proposed development will result in significant loss of 

Page 47



privacy to neighbouring occupiers – in particular residents of Albany Works, Connaught 
Works, Monteith, Gatehouse or Empire Wharf.  
 

 Gatehouse, Monteith, Albany and Connaught 
8.106 There are windows serving habitable rooms (including living-rooms and bedrooms) located 

in the West elevation of Gatehouse, Monteith, Albany Works and Connaught Works.  The 
opposing proposed east elevation also contains windows serving habitable rooms and has 
balconies.  It is recognised that to some people the open-nature of balconies means that 
they can exacerbate the feeling of being overlooked.        
 

8.107 Gatehouse is located to the north-east of the development.  At the closest the distance is 
10m, though the distance between opposing windows is higher.  The relatively oblique 
nature of any potential overlooking is considered sufficient for there not to be any 
significant loss of privacy.   
 

8.108 At its closest the Monteith building is approximately 12m from the balconies of the 
proposed development.  The balcony – building distance for Albany Works is 16m and for 
Connaught Works a minimum of 22m. 
 

8.109 Though the fenestration of the Gunmakers Lane elevation has been positioned to reduce 
the possibilities of direct overlooking, it is likely that neighbouring occupants are likely to 
suffer a degree of additional overlooking.  However, it is considered that the landscape 
splay and Gunmakers Lane give, the relationship an ‘across the street’ feel.  The 
separation distances are considered acceptable in the context of an urban environment 
and it would not be possible to substantiate refusing an application on loss of privacy 
grounds.        
 

8.110 An objector drew attention to the fact that the penthouse flat in Albany Works has floor to 
ceiling glazing which makes it particularly vulnerable to overlooking.  Again in this case 
Officers consider that the ‘across the street’ type relationship is more than sufficient to 
overcome the relative shortfall in separation distance and the impact on the privacy of this 
neighbour is also acceptable.  
 

 Empire Wharf 
8.111 Windows from Block A and D of the proposed development will look out across the central 

courtyard of Empire Wharf - which is primarily used to provide car-parking.  The layout of 
Block D ensure that windows tend to face away from opposing windows in Empire Wharf.  
This, coupled with the reasonable separation distance across an area of car-park, ensures 
that there would be no significant loss of privacy.  A condition would require the submission 
of window detail and balcony screens to ensure that no direct overlooking back to the rear 
block of Empire Wharf is possible.     
 

8.112 There are windows located in the north-east elevation of the rear block of Empire Wharf.  
The proposed development does not propose any windows in the opposing wall so there is 
no potential loss of privacy.  Privacy screens would ensure that it is not possible to look 
into the Empire Wharf flats from balconies and this would also be secured by condition.       
 

8.113 In general terms, the development mitigates for any potential loss of privacy, with a careful 
pattern of fenestration and the use of translucent glass screens and perforated metal fins 
to reduce the impression of direct overlooking.  The resulting relationship is not unusual in 
an urban environment and any loss of privacy is not considered sufficient reason to 
warrant the refusal of the application.   
 
 

 Sense of enclosure 
8.114 Residents have objected to the scheme on the basis that the increase in built development 

will create a sense of enclosure and a loss of outlook.  This matter always tends to be 

Page 48



subjective and cannot be readily assessed in terms of a percentage or measurable loss of 
light.  Officers accept that the increase in storey height from a single storey to 5/6 will 
increase the sense of enclosure felt by residents surrounding the development.  However,  
Officer’s do not consider the impact of this to be significant enough to warrant the refusal of 
the application given the urban context of the development   

  
Noise / disturbance 

8.115 Saved UDP policy DEV2 requires that new development should not have an adverse 
impact on residential amenity in terms of noise or disturbance.  The site is located on Old 
Ford Road – a relatively busy thoroughfare with a corresponding background noise level.  
In this context a residential use is unlikely to result in any significant additional noise 
disturbance.  The proposed ground floor commercial uses, which could include shops, 
cafes or offices, could potentially cause some disturbance if they operated late into the 
night.  A condition would be placed on any permission restricting the hour of operation of 
these uses to ensure the development accords with the requirements of saved UDP 
policies DEV2, S7 and HSG15.  The creation of a shared space / landscaped area on 
Gunmakers Lane could attract additional people to the area and increase general noise / 
disturbance to nearby residents. However in an urban environment this is considered to be 
acceptable.  
 
 

8.116 A resident has stated that traffic noise from cars entering the car-park could cause 
disturbance.  However, given the proximity of the site to Old Ford Road any additional 
noise is unlikely to exceed ambient background levels.   
 

8.117 Saved Policy DEV50 of the UDP states that the Council will consider the level of noise 
from a development as a material consideration.  This policy is particularly relevant to 
construction noise during the development phase.  To ensure compliance with this policy 
conditions would be placed on any permission restricting construction works to standard 
hours.   

  
 Transportation  
8.118 The site falls in an area with a public transport accessibility level (PTAL) of 2.  Old Ford 

Road is a Strategic Cycle Route.  The nearest bus stop is on the no.8 route located 
approximately 25m from the site.  Bus routes S2 and 339 also run relatively close to the 
site.  Train stations are located at Mile End and Bow Road which are in the region of a 20 
minute walk from the site.  The north-west side of Old Ford Road between Empire Wharf 
and Gunmakers Lane is safeguarded in the development plan for road widening.       
 

8.119 National guidance on transport provision is given in PPG13:  Transport.  London Plan 
polices 2A.1, 3C.1, 3C.2, 3C.3, 3C.21, 3C.22 and 3C.23; and IPG policies CP1, CP41, 
DEV16, DEV17, DEV18 and DEV19 in broad terms seek to promote more sustainable 
modes of transport by reducing car-parking and improving public transport.   
 
Saved UDP policy T16 requires that consideration is given to the traffic impact of 
operational requirements of a proposed use and T18 seeks to ensure priority is given to 
the safety and convenience of pedestrians.   
 

8.120 The application is supported by a Transport Assessment and framework Travel Plan 
prepared by Atkins.  This report details the policy context and baseline conditions in 
respect of the local areas public transportation and road network. The report then 
considers likely trip generation resulting from the residential and commercial components 
of the development;  and the potential impacts this may have on the road network, walking, 
cycling and public transport.  The study includes an assessment of the development during 
the construction phase.  
 

 Access and Servicing 

Page 49



 
8.121 The application proposes closing the existing access to the site from Old Ford Road.  A 

new access to the basement car-park would be provided adjacent to Empire Wharf.  
Servicing access for the residential and commercial components of the scheme would be 
provided via a new access from Gunmakers Lane.  This access would be a ‘shared 
surface’ comprising hard-landscaping that would allow vehicles to enter into the central 
courtyard area.  The courtyard area provides sufficient circulation space for turning 
vehicles, as demonstrated, on the submitted swept path diagrams.  Residential refuse 
stores, biomass fuel delivery and servicing for commercial units can all be achieved from 
this central courtyard.      
 

8.122 The proposed access arrangements have been reviewed by the Council’s Highway 
Section and are considered acceptable.  Details of proposed visibility splays for the new 
access from Old Ford Road would be required by condition.  
 

8.123 The developer has also agreed to the widening of the footway alongside Old Ford Road to 
achieve a width of 2.4m in accordance with the requirements of the Highways Department.  
If planning permission were granted, the developer has agreed to a financial contribution of 
£75, 000 for upgraded and improved streetworks along Old Ford Road.    
 

 Shared Surface on Gunmakers Lane 
8.124 The design benefits of a shared surface on Gunmakers Lane have been considered under 

the Design section of this report.  In Highways terms, a shared surface is acceptable given 
the low levels of vehicle movement expected on the road.  If planning permission is 
granted, the developer has agreed to make a financial contribution of £150,000 to pay for 
the costs associated with the required works to Gunmakers Lane.   
 

 Vehicle Parking 
8.125 The application proposes 65 car-parking spaces and 3 motorcycle bays.  One car-club 

space would be provided.  Electric car-charging points would be provided at three of the 
bays.  The proposed level of parking corresponds to a 47% provision and is below the 
maximum 50% level permitted by policy.  No parking is proposed for the commercial 
element of the scheme.    
 

8.126 Six of the car-parking spaces would be larger wheelchair accessible bays.  To make 
proper provision for the 7 wheelchair flats provided an additional bay is required and this 
matter could easily be resolved by condition. 
 

8.127 If planning permission is granted, the developer would agree to enter into a car-free 
agreement so that no controlled parking permits are issued to new residents.  This would 
prevent additional pressure for on-street parking and reduce congestion and promote 
alternative modes of transport.    
 

8.128 It is noted that some residents consider that the level of car-parking is insufficient.  
However, given policy objectives to promote sustainability, Officers consider that both 
residential and commercial parking arrangements are acceptable in terms of London Plan 
policy 3C.23 and IPG policy DEV19. 
 

 Cycle Parking 
8.129 The application proposes 140 cycle parking spaces for the residential flats.  These are 

located in three separate secure stores within the basement area.   This exceeds the one 
stand per dwelling minimum specified in IPG policy standards.  Cycle parking stands will 
also be provided adjacent to Gunmakers Lane for users of the commercial unit and 
visitors.  The level of provision accords with London Plan policy 3C.22 and IPG policy 
CP40 and is acceptable. 
 

 Impact on local transport infratrusture 

Page 50



 
8.130 Bus: 

The site is close to bus routes numbers 8, S2 and 339.  The submitted transport 
assessment estimates that the development will result in 36 additional bus trips during the 
AM (0800-0900) peak, 28 of which will be leaving the site. 
 

8.131 A number of objectors to the scheme have raised concerns that the local bus service, in 
particular the no.8, are already oversubscribed and that there is not the capacity to support 
additional users.  Officers are aware that bus services are often over-crowded in the 
mornings and share the concerns of residents.  
 

8.132 Transport for London would not usually seek a financial contribution for public transport 
improvements from a development of this size because the impact on service is not 
considered to be significant.  However, in light of residents and Officer’s concerns the 
Developer has agreed to make a financial contribution of £175,000 to mitigate for any 
increased pressure on local bus services. Transport for London have indicated that such a 
sum of money would, for instance, be sufficient to add an extra bus journey to the morning 
peak to reduce overcrowding.   
 

8.133 Rail: 
The Transport Assessment estimates that additional demand on train services from Bow 
Road could easily be absorbed into existing capacity.  Officers agree with this finding. 
  

8.134 Road: 
The submitted Transport Assessment has modelled the likely increased traffic flow 
resulting from the residential and commercial uses proposed.  The study concludes that 
there is sufficient capacity in local road and junction capacity to absorb any potential 
additional traffic without any risk to highway safety.  Officers agree with this finding.  
   

 Conclusion 
 

8.135 The submission has been reviewed by both the Council’s Highway Engineers and 
Transport for London who have raised no objection.  In overall terms, Officers are satisfied 
that with the proposed mitigation the impact of the development on public transport and 
road capacity is acceptable.  Given the relative small size of the scheme, it is not 
considered that the cumulative impact of this and other development in area is likely to be 
significant.  The scheme will significantly improve conditions in the immediate area of the 
site for cyclists and pedestrians and the development is acceptable in terms of 
transportation policies.   
 

 Others 
 Microclimate 
8.136 In respect of saved UDP policy DEV2 and IPG policy CP1, CP3 and DEV5 the application 

is supported by a microclimate assessment prepared by Cambridge Architectural 
Research.  The report considers whether the proposed development is likely to produce 
unacceptably high wind flows within or around the proposed buildings.  The report 
considers both comfort within the development and the comfort of pedestrians on 
surrounding streets including Gunmakers Lane.  The assessment concludes that any 
increased wind flow is unlikely to be significant and can be mitigated for with suitable tree 
planting.  Officers are satisfied that this matter can be suitably addressed during the 
discharge of landscaping conditions.      
 

 Air Quality 
8.137 London Plan policy 4A.19 and IPG policy DEV11 require the potential impact of a 

development on air quality to be considered.  IPG policy DEV12 requires that air and dust 
management is considered during demolition and construction work.  The application has 
been accompanied with an Air Quality Assessment prepared by Enviros Consulting.  The 

Page 51



study is a desk-based assessment that considers these potential impacts. Officers also 
requested additional information from the developer to assess the potential impact from the 
biomass boiler.  
 

8.138 The study concludes that during the construction phases the development may have some 
adverse impacts in terms of the generation of dust emissions.  It is considered that this 
matter can be controlled via an appropriate construction management plan.  This would be 
required by condition.  The study notes that the development proposes little on-site car 
parking, and no other uses that are likely to generate significant emissions.  Therefore 
once completed it is unlikely to have any significant impact on air quality.   The Council’s 
Air Quality Officer has reviewed the submitted study and considers it acceptable – subject 
to the submission of the detailed design of the biomass boiler and flue.  This would be 
secured by condition. 
 

  

 Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency  
8.139 London Plan energy policies aim to reduce carbon emissions by requiring the incorporation 

of energy efficient design and renewable energy technologies.  Policy 4A.7 states that new 
developments should achieve a reduction in carbon dioxide emissions of 20% from on-site 
renewable energy generation.  IPG policies CP28, DEV5 and DEV6 have similar aims to 
London Plan policy.  

 
8.140 The application is accompanied with a Sustainable Energy Statement produced by ESD 

Ltd.  This details that the development will use a community district heating system 
powered by a biomass boiler.  The proposed residential units would be completed to Code 
for Sustainable Homes Level 3. 
 

8.141 The measures outlined are expected to reduce CO2 emissions from the site by 23%.  
Where 3% CO2 abatement comes from the energy efficiency measures and 20% from 
biomass heating with a communal system.  The proposed measures have been reviewed 
by the Council’s Energy Efficiency Officer who considers them acceptable.  A condition 
would be imposed on any permission to ensure that the proposed measures were 
implemented as approved.  
   

 Biodiversity 
8.142 The site is located adjacent to the canal and Victoria Park, which is designated as a Site of 

Nature Conservation Importance.  The site also forms part of a Green Chain.  Saved UDP 
policies DEV57 and DEV63 require development to retain and enhance the Borough’s 
wildlife and natural resources.  London Plan policy 3D.14 also requires the Borough to take 
a proactive approach to promotion of biodiversity.   
 

8.143 The application is supported by an Ecology Phase 1 Study, prepared by Standerwick Land 
Design.  The study found that the site, which is mostly hard-standing, has limited 
opportunity to support biodiversity with the more habitat rich areas associated with the 
canal edge. 
 

8.144 The study also notes that bats have been recorded within 500m of the site.  The lack of 
crevices and openings means that the buildings are unlikely to house bat roosts.  However, 
the study recommends that a specific bat survey is undertaken prior to any construction 
works.  This would be secured by condition. 
 

8.145 An objector to the proposal noted that Three Colts Bridge is a good area for wildfowl and 
that it was used by people feeding ducks.  As has previously been discussed, the proposal 
will not lead to any permanent overshadowing of the canal and it is considered that the 
proposed landscaping can only improve the opportunities for this kind of recreational 
activity. 
 

Page 52



8.146 Both Natural England and the Environment Agency were consulted on the applications and 
have raised no objection, subject to the imposition of conditions regarding landscaping and 
use of native species.   
       

8.147 In overall terms, the provision of additional landscaped open-space, a brown roof, a green 
roof, the use of native species in planting and the treatment of the canal edge are all likely 
to improve the range of habitats available and promote biodiversity in accordance with 
policy. 
 

 Site Contamination 
8.148 In accordance with the requirements of PPS23, saved UDP policy DEV51 and IPG policy 

DEV22 the application has been accompanied by a Phase 1 Desk Based Assessment of 
Ground Conditions to assess whether the site is likely to be contaminated.  The study has 
been reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Heath Officer who has concluded that there 
is a potential threat of contamination.  The study identifies the need for further intrusive 
investigations and this, and any necessary mitigation, would be required by condition. 
 

 Telecommunications and radio reception  
8.149 The application includes an assessment of the potential impact of the development on 

local radio and television reception.  This assessment concludes that there are slight 
interference risks to analogue television services to the east of the application site (the 
predicted impact zone partly falls on Connaught Works and Albany Works).  The effects of 
this could be mitigated for by the provision of DTT receiving equipment.  The S106 legal 
agreement attached to any permission would contain a suitable clause to ensure suitable 
monitoring and mitigation takes place, to ensure compliance with IPG policy DEV27.     
 

 Archaeology 
8.150 The application was accompanied by a desk-top assessment that considered the potential 

of the site to house archaeological remains.  The study concludes that any potential 
remains are likely to have been removed during development in the 19th and 20th centuries.  
This document has been reviewed by English Heritage who concluded that no further 
investigations are required.  On this basis the Council is satisfied the proposal accords with 
the requirements of saved UDP policies DEV42, DEV43 and DEV44, which seek to ensure 
that development proposals do not have an adverse impact on archaeological remains. 
 

 Other impacts on local infrastructure 
8.151 Objectors have stated that the proposal would increase pressure on over-burdened local 

services.  To mitigate for any increase in pressure on education facilities, the developer 
has agreed to make a financial contribution of £283, 866 to the Borough.  This is calculated 
on the expected child yield from the development and is acceptable to the Council’s 
Education Department.   A contribution of £230, 910 to mitigate for the demand of the 
additional heath care facilities has also been agreed. 
 

8.152 This accords with requirements of saved UDP policy DEV4 and Officers are satisfied that 
these matters mitigate for any additional pressure the development may have on local 
services. 
 

9.0 Conclusions 
  
 All other relevant policies and considerations have been taken into account. Planning 

permission should be granted for the reasons set out in the SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS and the details of the decision are set out in the 
RECOMMENDATION at the beginning of this report. 

 
 

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Committee: 
Development  

Date:  
8th October 2008 
 

Classification:  
Unrestricted 

Agenda Item Number: 
 

Report of:  
Director of Development and 
Renewal 
 
Case Officer: 
 Marie Joseph 

Title: Town Planning Application 
 
Ref No: PA/08/01580  
 
Ward: Limehouse (February 2002 onwards) 

 
 
1. APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
   
 Location: 1-131 Carmine Wharf, 30 Copenhagen Place, London 
 Existing Use:  
 Proposal: Erection of a seven storey building to provide 883m² of 

floor space for B1 use on the ground and lower floors, 
with 35 residential units on upper floors with car 
parking and landscaping. 

 Drawing Nos/Documents:  
 Applicant:  Henley Homes East 
 Ownership:  
 Historic Building:  
 Conservation Area:  
 
1. APPLICATION DETAILS 
  
 Location: Block B, 1-131 Carmine Wharf, 30 Copenhagen Place 
 Existing Use:  
 Proposal: Erection of a seven storey building to provide 883 square metres of 

floorspace for B1 use on the ground and lower floors, with 35 
residential units on upper floors with car parking and landscaping. 

 Drawing Nos:  
 Applicant: Henley Homes East, 103 Union Street, London Bridge, SE1 0AL 
 Owner: Henley Homes East, 103 Union Street, London Bridge, SE1 0AL 
 Historic Building: n/a 
 Conservation Area: n/a 
 
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
2.1 The local planning authority has considered the particular circumstances of these 

applications against the Council's approved planning policies contained in the London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets Unitary Development Plan (UDP), the Council’s Interim Planning 
Guidance (2007), associated supplementary planning guidance, the London Plan and 
Government Planning Policy Guidance and has found that:  
 
1. The proposed development would have no adverse impacts upon neighbouring residential 
occupiers and their amenity and would therefore adhere to Saved Policies DEV2, DEV50, 
HSG13, HSG16 and T16 of the Unitary Development Plan (1998), Policies DEV1, DEV3, 
DEV10, HSG7 and HSG9 of the Interim Planning Guidance: core strategy and development 
control plan (October 2007) and Policy 3A.5 of the London Plan (February 2008) which seek 
to safeguard the amenity of residential occupiers of the borough, adequate amenity space for 
new developments, highways safety and inclusive design and choice of housing. 

Agenda Item 7.2

Page 55



 
2. The proposed design, layout and materials of the development are considered to be 
acceptable and would have no adverse impacts upon neighbouring properties and the 
character and appearance of the area. For these reasons the proposal would adhere to 
Saved Polices DEV1, DEV12 and DEV7 of the Unitary Development Plan (1998) and 
Policies DEV2 and HSG2 of the Interim Planning Guidance: core strategy and development 
control plan (October 2007) and Policy 3A.7 of the London Plan (February 2008) which seek 
to ensure appropriate design, amenity space and quality of developments within the 
Borough. 
 
3. The proposal provides an acceptable amount of affordable housing and mix of units 
overall. As such, the proposal is in line with policies 3A.1, 3A.2 and 3A.5 of the London Plan, 
policies HSG4 and HSG7 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and policy HSG2 
of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007), which seek to ensure that new 
developments offer a range of housing choices. 
 
 

 
3. RECOMMENDATION 
  
3.1 That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to: 
   
 A. The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning obligations: 
  
  i) A variation of the original Section 106 legal agreement entered into pursuant to 

PA/03/00154 signed on 8th September 2006 to provide a further 2 affordable units within 
Block B of the approved development in addition to the original 28. 

  
Conditions 

  
 1) Time limit 

2) Insulation measures 
3) Car free Scheme 
4) 5 additional cycle racks 

  
 Informatives 
  
 None 
  
3.3 That, if by the 3rd November 2008 the legal agreement has not been completed, the 

Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated power to refuse planning 
permission. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS 
  
 Proposal 
  
4.1 This application seeks permission for the erection of a seven storey building (Block B) to 

provide 883 square metres of B1 space on the ground and lower floors and 35 residential 
units on upper floors with associated car parking and landscaping. 

  
 
 
 

Page 56



 Site and Surroundings 
  
4.2 The site in question, Block B, forms part of a larger development consisting of a new mixed 

use development comprising 4 commercial/office units and 110 residential units with 
associated car parking and landscaping which was permitted on September 8th 2006 under 
planning reference PA/03/00154.  The development has been completed. Other properties 
within the vicinity consist of 4 and 5 storey residential and commercial blocks.  

  
 Planning History 
  
4.3 The following planning decisions are relevant to the application: 
  
 PA/03/00154 Demolition of existing storage warehouses and construction of a new mixed 

use development comprising 4 commercial/office units and 110 residential 
units with associated car parking and landscaping, Permitted 8th September 
2006. 

   
 PA/07/00977 Demolition of existing storage warehouses and construction of a new mixed 

use development comprising 4 commercial/office units and 115 residential 
units with associated car parking and landscaping. 
(Amendment the development granted consent under planning permission 
ref. PA/03/154 dated 2nd September 2006, relating to the infilling of the 
north-eastern corner of block C as approved to provide a caretaker's office 
at lower ground level and 5no. 1-bed flats on upper 5 floors, together with 
incidental external alterations to block C), Appeal Dismissed February 11th 
2008. 

 
5. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
  
5.1 For details of the status of relevant policies see the front sheet for “Planning Applications for 

Determination” agenda items. The following policies are relevant to the application: 
   
 Unitary Development Plan 1998 (as saved September 2007) 
 Policies: DEV1 Character and Design 
  DEV2 Amenity 
  DEV4  Planning Obligations 
  DEV12 

EMP1 
HSG6 
HSG7 
HSG13 
HSG16 
T16 

Landscaping 
Promoting employment growth 
Access over commercial premises 
Dwelling mix and type 
Internal space standards 
Amenity Space 
Traffic impacts of new developments 

  
 Interim Planning Guidance for the purposes of Development Control 
 Policies: DEV1 Amenity 
  DEV2 Design 
  
 Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London (London Plan) 
 Policies: 3A.1 Increasing London’s supply of housing 
  3A.2 

3A.5 
3A.6 
3A.7 
3A.8 

Borough Housing Targets 
Housing choice 
Quality of new housing provision 
Large residential developments  
Definition of affordable housing 

Page 57



  
 Community Plan  The following Community Plan objectives relate to the application: 
  A better place for living safely  
  A better place for living well 
 
6. CONSULTATION RESPONSE 
  
6.1 LBTH Environmental Health 
  
 • The proposal shows no information relating to the sound insulation between units and 

B1 space below. (officer comment: The units have the same insulation measures as 
the other approved units within the scheme therefore no extra information is required 
in relation to this). 

 
• The proposal has no daylight and sunlight studies relating to the proposal and its 

effects upon the surrounding buildings. (Officer comment: As the proposal is an infill 
area of an approved building a daylight and sunlight report is not considered to be 
necessary). 

  
6.2 LBTH Highways 
  
 • The site is located in an area of high accessibility to public transport.  

• The proposed units should be subject to a car free Section 106 agreement. 
• The applicant should supply 5 additional cycle spaces which should be covered and 

secure. 
• No service arrangements have been supplied. However, servicing arrangements are 

same as previously approved scheme and therefore no objections are raised. 
  
6.3 LBTH Housing 
  
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
6.5 

• The proposal provides a further 2 affordable units equating to 40% of the additional 
units which is acceptable. 

 
LBTH Waste Policy and Development 
 

• No adverse comments to make in relation to the scheme. 
 
LBTH Energy Efficiency Unit 
 

• No adverse comments to make in relation to the scheme 
  
 
7. LOCAL REPRESENTATION 
  
7.1 A total of 75 neighbouring properties within the area shown on the map appended to this 

report were notified about the application and invited to comment. The application has also 
been publicised in East End Life and on site. The number of representations received from 
neighbours and local groups in response to notification and publicity of the application were 
as follows: 

  
 No of individual responses: 0 Objecting: 0 Supporting: 0 
 No of petitions received: 0 objecting containing 0 signatories 
  0 supporting containing 0 signatories 
  

Page 58



7.4 No  local groups or societies have made representations: 
  
 
8. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
8.1 The main planning issues raised by the application that the committee must consider are: 

 
1. Planning History 
2. Land Use 
3. Design 
4. Amenity 
5. Highways 
6. Other 

  
 Planning History 
  
8.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3 

This application follows permission for 110 units and 4 commercial units which was approved 
in September 2006. The development was spilt into 5 separate blocks (A, B,C,D, and E), and 
constructed in phases, Block B being one of the last to be constructed. An application for 
“Amendments during the course of construction” was submitted in March 2007 for an 
additional 5 units to be added onto Block B. It was officers opinion that there is no legislative 
provision for such an application and therefore a new application for the entire Block B was 
required.  This position was supported by the Planning Inspectorate when the application 
was appealed for non-determination and was subsequently dismissed in February 2008.  
 
This application now seeks retrospective permission for the whole of Block B, including the 
amendments which consists of  4 commercial units to be split up into 8 commercial units 
over lower ground and ground floors and the addition of five residential units which would 
comprise of 5 x 1 bed, 2 of which have been allocated for affordable housing.  

  
 Land Use 
  
8.4 Given the extant permission under reference PA/03/00154 which has been implemented on 

site, the principle of the proposal has been established. The layout of the 30 residential units 
in Block B approved under this permission will remain the same as will car parking and 
associated landscaping.  

  
 Design 
  
8.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.6 
 
 
8.7 
 
 
 
 

Block B  is six storeys in height with a seventh floor which is slightly recessed from the 
parapet wall. The additional five flats match the existing building and would be located on the 
northern elevation of the property. They each consist of one bedroom units and benefit from 
balconies on the northern elevation of the property. It is considered that the addition of the 5 
x 1 bed flats would fit in comfortably within the existing design of the building and would infill 
an existing recess on the north east corner of the building measuring 8.8 metres by 6.8 
metres.  
 
The proposed facing materials of terracotta, cream render, metal windows and balconies are 
identical to that  previously approved on Block B.  
 
The proposed commercial element as opposed to being four B1 duplex units is now 
proposed to consist of eight separate units, four of which would be arranged over the lower 
ground floor with access to the rear, and the remaining four would be at ground floor with 
access from the front of the property. It is considered that the alteration of the units would 
have no material impacts upon the development as no additional parking spaces have been 

Page 59



 
 
 
 
8.8 
 
 
 
 
 
8.9 
 
 
 
 
8.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.13 
 
 
 
8.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.15 
 

proposed and no floor space lost. Therefore the new layout would be acceptable and would 
adhere to Saved Policy EMP1 of the Unitary Development Plan (1998) which seeks to 
promote employment growth within the Borough.  
 
Given the above, it is considered that the proposed materials and design would be in 
keeping with the existing building its surroundings and the larger development site as a 
whole and would therefore adhere to Saved Policy DEV1 of the Unitary Development Plan 
(1998) and Policy DEV2 of the Interim Planning Guidance (October 2007) which seek to 
ensure appropriate design within new developments in the Borough.  
 
The proposal was forwarded to the Council’s policy and urban design teams for comment 
and no adverse comments were received in relation to the scheme. 
 
Amenity 
 
This application proposes 5 x 1 bedroom units in addition to the already permitted 26 x 2 
bedroom units and 4 x 1 bedroom units. In regard to HSG13 (Residential Space) it is 
considered that there is an adequate provision of internal residential space. The minimum 
space standards set out in The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Supplementary Planning 
Guidance Note Residential Space (1998) are met by all applicable rooms. Furthermore, it is 
considered that an acceptable proportion of the units and the internal lift would meet lifetime 
homes standard and therefore would adhere to Policy HSG9 of the Interim Planning 
Guidance which seeks to ensure accessible homes within new developments in the 
Borough. 
 
Windows in all elevations of the main building are already in existence and have been 
previously approved under PA/03/00154. Therefore, it is considered that the introduction of 
the 5 additional units and their windows/balconies would have no impact on neighbouring 
amenity beyond that which currently exists. Similarly, the windows in the northern and 
eastern elevations of the property would have no further impacts upon overlooking and loss 
of privacy than currently exists.  
 
This application proposes amenity space to the units in the form of balconies each 
measuring 9 square metres. Given the rear landscaped communal courtyard to the rear of 
the block and the additional landscaping communal areas within the development as a whole 
it is considered that the proposed amenity space is acceptable and would adhere to Saved 
Policies DEV2, DEV12 and HSG13 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan (1998) and 
Policies DEV1, and HSG7 of the Interim Planning Guidance (October 2007) which seeks to 
ensure an acceptable amount of amenity space for new developments within the borough.  
 
A refuse store facility has already been implemented for the development under reference 
PA/03/00154 and it is considered, by the Council’s highways department to be sufficient to 
serve the additional units.  
 
The Council's environmental health officer has raised concerns in relation to noise and 
vibration at the site from the commercial uses to the residential units. However, this matter 
has already been addressed in relation to the approved 30 units by the extant permission.  
With regards to the additional 5 units, a condition has been imposed to ensure that sufficient 
insulation is provided between the ground floor unit and commercial unit. Thus, the proposal 
is in accordance with saved Policies DEV2 and DEV50 of the Council’s Unitary Development 
Plan (1998) and Policies DEV1 and DEV10 of the Interim Planning Guidance (October 2007) 
which seek to safeguard the amenities of existing and future occupiers of the borough.  
 
The Council's environmental health officer has raised concerns in relation to a 
daylight/sunlight report not having been submitted by the applicant in order to meet the 

Page 60



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.16 
 
 
 
8.17 
 
 
 
 
 
8.18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

current BRE guidelines in terms of amenities for the proposed habitable rooms. Again, in 
relation to the 30 units, this matter has already been addressed by the extant permission. 
The position and orientation of the additional 5 units does not result in any loss of daylight or 
sunlight to surrounding properties, and the proposal is therefore in accordance with saved 
Policy DEV2 Council’s Unitary Development Plan 1998 and DEV1 of the Interim Planning 
Guidance (October 2007) which seek to safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the 
borough.  
 
Highways 
 
The council’s highways officer has no objections to the proposed scheme subject to a 
section 106 car-free agreement. This will be secured by a Grampian condition requiring 
details of scheme to prevent the occupiers from applying for a car parking permit. 
 
Similarly, the Council’s highways department has expressed a requirement for 5 additional 
cycle spaces due to the addition of 5 residential units. There is ample space on the site to 
provide an additional 5 cycle spaces and this will be secured by condition. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
In total, the approved Block B provides 30 flats comprising of 6 x 1 bed and 24 x 2 beds. 
Within this mix 28 larger units were allocated for affordable housing across the whole 
development site.  This application provides for 2  of the 5 additional flats to be allocated to 
that total  providing a total contribution of 30 (40%) affordable housing units across the larger 
development site. It is considered by the Council’s housing team that the proposal provides 
an acceptable level of affordable housing and is in line with policies 3A.7 and 3A.8 of the 
London Plan, policy HSG7 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan (1998) and policies 
CP22, HSG2 and HSG3 of the Council’s Interim Planning Guidance (2007), which seek to 
ensure that new developments offer a range of housing choices. 

  
 Other  
  
8.19 The following conditions of planning permission reference PA/03/00154 have been 

discharged/ in the process of being discharged: 
 
2a –facing materials. 
2b – treatment of open land. 
2c – walls, fences and railings. 
2d –noise remediation. 
2e – lighting. 
8- surface water drainage. 
 
Therefore, given the completion of the development it is considered that conditions relating 
to these issues would not be required on this application. 

  
9 CONCLUSIONS 
  
9.1 All other relevant policies and considerations have been taken into account. Planning 

permission should be granted for the reasons set out in the SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS and the details of the decision are set out in the 
RECOMMENDATION at the beginning of this report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 61



  
 

Page 62


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	5 PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS
	6 DEFERRED ITEMS
	7.1 Gun Wharf, 241 Old Ford Road, London, E3
	7.2 1-131 Carmine Wharf, 30 Copenhagen Place, London

